

# Fostering Order In The Indo-Pacific

What the EU Can Learn From and Do With Australia, India, Japan, South Korea, and Vietnam

Special Paper | February 2025

Richard Ghiasy Julie Yu-Wen Chen Jagannath Panda

# Fostering Order In The Indo-Pacific

What the EU Can Learn From and Do With Australia, India, Japan, South Korea, and Vietnam

Richard Ghiasy Julie Yu-Wen Chen Jagannath Panda

> Special Paper February 2025









"Fostering Order in the Indo-Pacific" is a Special Paper published by the Institute for Security and Development Policy. The Institute is based in Stockholm, Sweden, and cooperates closely with research centers worldwide. The Institute serves a large and diverse community of analysts, scholars, policywatchers, business leaders, and journalists. It is at the forefront of research on issues of conflict, security, and development. Through its applied research, publications, research cooperation, public lectures, and seminars, it functions as a focal point for academic, policy, and public discussion.

No third-party textual or artistic material is included in the publication without the copyright holder's prior consent to further dissemination by other third parties. Reproduction is authorized provided the source is acknowledged.

© ISDP, 2025 ISBN: 978-91-88551-62-7

Distributed in Europe by:

Institute for Security and Development Policy Västra Finnbodavägen 2, 131 30 Stockholm-Nacka, Sweden Tel. +46-841056953; Fax. +46-86403370 Email: info@isdp.eu

Editorial correspondence should be directed to the address provided above (preferably by email).

Cover Picture: Lenorko/Shutterstock

# Contents

Ackn	ıowledgements	1			
Abbr	3				
Executive Summary					
1.	Introduction	9			
2.	Five Powers' Interpretations and Preferences	13			
2.1	Understanding Order in the Indo-Pacific	14			
2.2	Interpretations and Preferences	16			
	2.2.1 Australia	16			
	2.2.2 India	18			
	2.2.3 Japan	20			
	2.2.4 South Korea	21			
	2.2.5 Vietnam	23			
2.3	Conclusions	24			
3.	Five Powers' Views of the EU's Role	31			
3.1	What Is and What Could Be	32			
	3.1.1 Australia	33			
	3.1.2 India	34			
	3.1.3 Japan	37			
	3.1.4 South Korea	38			
	3.1.5 Vietnam	40			
3.2	Conclusions	41			
4.	How Should the EU Proceed?	47			
4.1	Key Learnings	48			
4.2	Multilateral Cooperation Avenues	49			
4.3	Bilateral Cooperation Avenues	50			
About the Authors					

# Acknowledgements

Crafting a policy report concerning a complex subject such as order in a region as large and diverse as the Indo-Pacific and one that involves five Indo-Pacific powers plus the European Union (EU) rests on many shoulders. Indeed, through three virtual workshops, several distinguished peers indirectly helped carry the load. We cannot thank these thirty experts enough for their insightful contributions to these workshops: Dr. David Brewster, Ambassador Jayant Prasad, Prof. Kei Hakata, Associate Prof. Wooyeal Paik, Prof. (em.) Carlyle Thayer, Prof. Nick Bisley, Ambassador Ujjal Singh Bhatia, Dr. Satoru Nagao, Prof. Kim Sung Chull, Florian Feyerabend, Dr. George Boone, Dr. Swasti Rao, Tatsuo Shikata, Thomas Yoshimura, Associate Prof. Ha Hai Hoang, Dr. Alica Kizekova, Dr. Patryk Kugiel, Ayako Hashida, Dr. Eric J. Ballbach, Dr. Do Thanh Hai, Associate Prof. Jonathan Ping, Ambassador Anil Trigunayat, Prof. Sato Yoichiro, Prof. Jina Kim, Dr. Nguyen Khac Giang, Dr. Anna Hayes, Dr. Swati Prabhu, Associate Prof. Kei Koga, Associate Prof. Kuyoun Chung, and Prof. Daniela Sicurelli.

Furthermore, we conducted in-person interviews with policy practitioners in India, Japan, South Korea, and Vietnam. We want to thank all of them for their time and insights. To encourage candid discussion, all interviews were conducted under the condition of anonymity. With minor exceptions their insights are synthesized and do not attribute specific views to individual participants. Following a tradition fairly popular in the United States (US), at GIGA (German Institute for Global and Area Studies) in Hamburg, SWP (German Institute for International and Security Affairs) in Berlin, and European Policy Centre (EPC) in Brussels, we held pre-report publication roundtables to discuss the draft report and its findings with scholars and policy practitioners and invited their feedback. It was a helpful exercise. We are very grateful to these three institutes, particularly Prof. Patrick Köllner and Dr. Johannes Plagemann at GIGA, Dr. Felix Heiduk at SWP, Ivano di Carlo and Johannes Greubel at EPC, and all the participants. At the University of Helsinki, we would like to express appreciation to Dr. Monique Taylor for peer reviewing part of this report and Mr. Frans Silander for helping with the first two virtual workshops. We thank Dr. Niklas Swanström, Executive Director at the ISDP (Institute for Security and Development Policy), for his support of this project. A word of thanks also goes to Ms. Anna Jarmuth at ISDP for her support for logistical matters.

Most importantly, we acknowledge Stiftung Mercator for sponsoring this one-year research project on one of the most critical subjects of this century, as (dis)order in the Indo-Pacific will significantly affect the international order. At Stiftung, we would like to thank Teresa Spancken and Jennifer Hecht, in particular, for their efforts to realize and support this project.

May the project and this report contribute to greater awareness of order bearing in the Indo-Pacific and more effective EU (member-state) policies. Please note that this publication does not necessarily represent the views of Stiftung Mercator.

Richard Ghiasy, Director, GeoStrat, the Netherlands

Julie Yu-Wen Chen, Professor of Chinese Studies, University of Helsinki, Finland Jagannath Panda, Head, Stockholm Center for South Asian and Indo-Pacific Affairs, Institute for Security and Development Policy, Sweden

February 2025, The Hague, Helsinki, Stockholm

# **Abbreviations**

ADB	Asian Development Bank
AIIB	Asia Infrastructure Investment Bank
ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations
BRI	Belt and Road Initiative
CCDCOE	Cooperative Cyber Defense Centre of Excellence
CEPA	Comprehensive Economic Partnership Agreement
CMF	Combined Maritime Force
СМР	Coordinated Maritime Presences
CPV	Communist Party of Vietnam
EEZ	Exclusive Economic Zones
EPC	European Policy Centre
ESIWA	Enhancing Security in and with Asia
EU	European Union
EUDIS	EU Defense Industry Strategy
EUNAVFOR	EU Naval Force Operations
EVFTA	EU-Vietnam Free Trade Agreement
FOIO	Free and Open International Order
FOIP	Free and Open Indo-Pacific
FPA	Framework Partnership Agreement
FTA	Free Trade Agreement
GIGA	German Institute for Global and Area Studies
IP4	Indo-Pacific Four (Australia, Japan, New Zealand and South Korea)
IPOI	Indo-Pacific Oceans Initiative
ISDP	Institute for Security and Development Policy
IUU	Illegal, Unreported, and Unregulated
JETP	Just Energy Transition Partnership
KASI	Korea-ASEAN Solidarity Initiative
NATO	North Atlantic Treaty Organization
NCG	Nuclear Consultative Group
PESCO	Permanent Structure Cooperation
RCEP	Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership
SAGAR	Security and Growth for All in the Region
SCO	Shanghai Cooperation Organisation
SWP	German Institute for International and Security Affairs
UN	United Nations
UNCLOS	United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea
US	United States
WTO	World Trade Organization

# **Executive Summary**

One of the most critical challenges of this century is fostering order in the Indo-Pacific. (Dis)order in this space will significantly affect the international order. Not only do many Indo-Pacific residents lead efforts to probe and reform international order and concepts of order, but the superpower competition between the United States (U.S.) and China primarily unfolds here. The EU is already cognizant of this. Yet, it is not just about what the EU and its members seek to accomplish in the region but just as much the interpretations of and preferences for order of key Indo-Pacific resident actors. What are their views on EU strategies and contributions to order? Indeed, major and middle powers from the primary maritime regions-Australia, India, Japan, South Korea, and Vietnam (abbreviated as the "five powers")-are proactive and have much agency in Indo-Pacific affairs. In their ways, they attempt to do what is best for them and what they perceive as fostering order in the Indo-Pacific. What can the EU learn from and do with these five powers?

Order in the Indo-Pacific is characterized by forces that simultaneously sustain, strengthen, erode, expand, and reform it. The predominant force is the re-emergence of Asia at large as an economic, (geo)political, and technological force, particularly China, India, ASEAN, and actors in the Islamic world. As power balances shift in favor of Asia, and in particular China, the Indo-Pacific is in an ordering dynamic in which new institutions are being founded, rules and principles such as sovereignty and non-interference are simultaneously violated and emphasized, and new principles and norms regarding cooperation and security are promoted.

Amidst this backdrop, the interpretation of order fostering in the Indo-Pacific of all five powers essentially converges. While geographic focus varies from the international (Japan), the Indo-Pacific (Australia), the Indian Ocean (India), to the regional (South Korea and Vietnam), a stable, free, and open rules-based Indo-Pacific that enables economic integration, open sea lanes, and unimpeded trade flows, and that excludes anyone's unilateral actions are essentially their shared understanding of order.

However, rather stark differences exist in their preferences for fostering order in the Indo-Pacific. Australia, Japan, and, to a lesser degree, South Korea, bonded by a volatile Korean Peninsula, perceive the balance of power vis-à-vis China as the most critical and effective way to sustain order in the Indo-Pacific. They see the U.S. as a critical security balancer with whom they, as active agents, can help foster order. To them, there was a stable and economically facilitating order in the Indo-Pacific that a stronger China is uprooting due to its maritime and territorial claims in the South and East China Seas. From their perspective—and among other approaches—it is critical to sustain a balance of power so that China does not trespass on order parameters.

Time will tell the efficacy of this approach, as the inherent mistrust and instability of power balancing, generally an exercise of friction, does not necessarily guarantee sustained peace, stability, cooperation, or order. Yet, it may indeed discourage China from any unilateral actions. In turn, China considers this U.S.-led power balancing as destabilizing, the Huband-Spokes alliance system as an exclusive hegemonic military configuration, and neither as part of the international or Indo-Pacific order. As an extension of that stance, India and Vietnam, while still pursuing hard security and an Asia that includes the U.S., favor a more balanced approach to order fostering that prioritizes inclusive dialogue, genuine multilateralism, multi-aligned networks, and cooperative rather than collective solutions to security. India, South Korea, and Vietnam also strongly prioritize economic development. These differences highlight how geographic distance, domestic political and economic priorities, material capabilities, strategic culture, historical relationships and legacies shape each power's interpretations of and preferences for order in the Indo-Pacific. These five powers cannot be considered a grouping that thinks and acts in unison or has identical views on order fostering in the Indo-Pacific.

The five powers' views on the EU's engagement in the Indo-Pacific thus far and how the EU could help foster regional order also vary. These hover over an amalgam of realism, disillusion, and optimism. The Australian, Japanese, and South Korean aspirations for greater coordination with the EU lie in the hope that it can move closer to the U.S.-led Indo-Pacific military alliances, informally or formally, directly or indirectly. India and Vietnam place a much stronger emphasis on diversifying external relations and on a more plural or multipolar Indo-Pacific where firm security reliance through collective security on the U.S., or anybody for that matter, is largely discouraged. This represents the overall Indo-Pacific barometer for order, stability, and cooperation more than the Australian, Japanese, and South Korean approaches.

This report does not claim to know which of these five powers' individual or shared preferences for order fostering is the most effective way. Each interpretation and preference has a degree of rationale and merit. What is clear is that if stability and cooperation are the highest goals of orderand these should be-then order in the Indo-Pacific should be characterized by genuine multilateralism and based on international law. This automatically equates order in the Indo-Pacific with the international order. While order in the Indo-Pacific has unique characteristics and regional institutions, it falls under its aegis of international orderparticularly international law.

Therefore, the best way for the EU to contribute to fostering order might be a two-pronged approach. The realities of China's territorial and maritime claims and power balancing cannot be wished away. The preferred modus operandi of some of the area's most notable middle and major powers, Australia, Japan, and South Korea, to power balance and rely heavily on the U.S. is firm—this needs to be respected. If the EU believes in this approach, it may expand on current support to these regional countries' endeavors (in)directly.

Yet, most of the Indo-Pacific, India, and Vietnam included, do not see power balancing as *the* remedy for order fostering. Therefore, the EU's order fostering opportunity lies 1) in diplomatic engagement by facilitating (or joining) genuine multilateralist track I and track II dialogues with international law as the point of departure and that considers all stakeholders' core concerns; and, 2) through non-traditional security cooperation, both bilaterally and multilaterally with the five powers, and other powers, in maritime, economic, and cyber security—these are elaborated on in the Recommended Policies section (4.1).

Importantly, the EU should consider working with all like-interested states, not just likevalued ones. The like-valued states are limited to the IP4 and a few others, which will not cut it in a region as large and diverse as the Indo-Pacific. Moreover, the desire for stability, cooperation and order fostering is not exclusive to democratic states.

These ways forward do not require a new EU Indo-Pacific strategy but rather a recalibration of approaches more closely with all regional actors. This will include reconciling different interpretations of and preferences to foster order. Importantly, if international law is the cornerstone of international order, those fostering stability in the Indo-Pacific must champion it—equally for all, by all, and with all.



# CHAPTER 1

# Introduction

Photo credit: Alexandros Michailidis/Shutterstock

he Indo-Pacific, the maritime space and littoral between the western Indian and Western Pacific oceans, has become the world's most geopolitically and geoeconomically consequential theaterand will remain so for at least some decades. Order in this vast space partially dictates the maintenance or disruption of international order. Indeed, a) Indo-Pacific residents primarily lead efforts to probe and reform international order, b) the superpower competition between the United States (U.S.) and China primarily unfolds here, c) the region's geo-economics will only gain more influence, d) the region will significantly impact climate change (reversion), and e) the tech war primarily takes place in the Indo-Pacific. Climate change and technology are not direct drivers of order but can serve as important disruptors and shapers.

Thus far, much of the focus and debate among the European Union's (EU) few proactive members on order in the Indo-Pacific has been in response to trade dependency, Chinese unilateralism, U.S. hard security strategies, and unchecked Sino-U.S. contestation. By now, several of these EU members have come to understand each other's positions on the Indo-Pacific through the EU's "EU Strategy for Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific," and individual strategies, guidelines, visions, or approach and position papers (10 in total).

While reference to 'order' is prevalent in the EU and many of the individual member-states strategy papers, gradually, there is a realization

that it is not just about what the EU and its members seek to accomplish in the region but just as much the perspectives and priorities of key Indo-Pacific resident actors—and their views on EU strategies and contributions to order. Indeed, major and middle powers,<sup>1</sup> such as Australia, India, Japan, South Korea, and Vietnam (abbreviated as the "five powers"), have much agency in Indo-Pacific affairs. They actively try and sustain what they perceive as order in the Indo-Pacific and attempt to curb any Chinese and U.S. unilateral aspirations and order disruptions.

A brief elaboration on why these five powers are selected is warranted. We selected one major or middle power from each of the five maritime Asian regions, barring West Asia, but including Australia: South, East, Northeast, and Southeast Asia. This led us to whom we perceived as having particular agency: respectively India, Japan, South Korea, and Vietnam. Australia is not strictly Asia but a significant and active middle power in the Indo-Pacific. Besides this geographic criterion, we attempted to strike a balance between economically and technologically advanced actors and less advanced actors.

We also took into consideration their strategic security thinking: Australia, Japan, and (to a significant degree) South Korea are essentially status quo powers that strongly favor a U.S.led security order and architecture.<sup>2</sup> In turn, India is a strong proponent of the notion of multipolarity and pursues a strategy that encourages strategic autonomy and multialignment. At the same time, Vietnam also practices the latter and is, regarding order fostering in the South China Sea, an active member of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN). Indeed, as Vietnam is located at the heart of the South China Sea, a critical chokepoint and flashpoint for regional disputes such as Taiwan, it has a proactive stance on maritime and international law, and since the South China Sea is the strategic heart of the Indo-Pacific, Vietnam's inclusion was given.

Perhaps the question of why Vietnam has been selected over Indonesia may surface: Indonesia could be a contender as well, but Indonesia's agency-arguably-is not as commensurate with its size and population as Vietnam in Indo-Pacific ordering pursuit. Certainly, Indonesia's long-standing nonalignment pursuit is commendable, but the country's stronger domestic focus and quieter foreign policy may lack some 'spirit.' Similarly, ASEAN is too diverse a group and lacks cohesion in Indo-Pacific order fostering; selecting it over Vietnam would also have added an intergovernmental organization to a list of individual powers.

As a result, by design, these five powers cannot be considered as a grouping that thinks and acts in unison or has identical views on order in the Indo-Pacific. In their strong siding with the U.S.-led security order and architecture, Australia, Japan, and (to a slightly lesser degree) South Korea are less reflective of the Indo-Pacific barometer than India and Vietnam—most countries do not side strongly with either the U.S. or China. Similarly, it is a given that these five are not treated as unitary actors individually. Internally, among the policy, academic, and think tank communities, there are divergences in how to best foster order in the Indo-Pacific.

With this set out, we argue that the EU is best served by gauging these five powers' approaches to order as reference, fostering and, in response, learning and aligning with them where viable, as siding unequivocally with the U.S. or China is not preferred.<sup>3</sup>

With this background and objectives in mind, this report answers three questions, each building on the previous:

- What are the five powers' interpretations of and preferences for order in the Indo-Pacific?
- 2) What are these five powers' views on EU (members) strategies and their preferences for the EU to support order in the Indo-Pacific?
- 3) Why and how can the EU best position its policies more closely to those of the five powers?

The data-gathering methods of this report included a combination of desk and field research: desk research comprised a review of official and scholarly sources from across the Indo-Pacific, Europe, and the U.S. The authors also held a workshop in Helsinki and three half-day virtual workshops under the Chatham House rule to discuss the questions listed above. The workshops revolved around panelist presentations (30) by experts (see the Acknowledgments section) from/on the five powers and discussions among all attendees. Lastly, the authors conducted field research in four of the five powers in question and conducted semistructured interviews with relevant policy practitioners. The report proceeds as follows: Chapter 2 discusses the five powers' interpretations of and preferences for order in the Indo-Pacific order. Chapter 3 elaborates on their views of the EU's role thus far and what this role could be. Finally, Chapter 4 deliberates how the EU should proceed best.

#### Endnotes

- 1 While fully acknowledging varying interpretations and definitions of major and middle powers, this report does not delve into definitional specifics and parameters of these classifications.
- 2 A 'security order', traditional and non-traditional, indicates the degree of cooperation to which states may (and/ or are able to) take measures to protect their individual and, when preferred, collective security interests. In contrast, a 'security architecture' involves clearer sets of obligations, commitments, and possibly even privileges, arising from and governed by treaty-institutional foundations and implications.
- 3 The EU follows an independent approach, see "The EU Strategy for Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific," European Union External Action Service, September 16, 2021, https://www.eeas.europa.eu.



## CHAPTER 2

# Five Powers' Interpretations and Preferences

After briefly discussing order in the Indo-Pacific, this chapter examines the five powers' interpretations of and preferences for order and concludes with commonalities and differences among the five.

## 2.1 Understanding Order in the Indo-Pacific

The Indo-Pacific is an extensive multipolar system in which the fate of its order is not solely determined by the two superpowers-the U.S. and China-but by the politics, interests, and agency of many local powers and variables. The region's foremost strategic challenges may revolve around China's re-emergence, but the area itself is not just about China. Indeed, the Indo-Pacific is an enormous theater with many challenges and institutional and regional layers, players, and stakeholders. Asserting a single Indo-Pacific order is problematic; multiple political, economic, and security orders dot the vast Indo-Pacific space. This report, therefore, refers to 'order' in the Indo-Pacific as a concept and objective and acknowledges its plurality, i.e., orders, rather than a singular Indo-Pacific order.

The Indo-Pacific strategy, predominantly led by the U.S., Japan, and Australia, is simultaneously a concept, geography, process, and outcome and is mainly geared towards

democratic values, economic promoting resilience among like-minded partners, and adherence to international law, but importantly also diluting and absorbing Chinese influence and maritime expansionism.<sup>1</sup> The thrust of the leading Indo-Pacific strategies is not to foster cooperation with all but about China's containment and balancing.<sup>2</sup> Many proponents firmly believe that this is the most effective way to sustain order, although others, led by China, see this containment and the U.S.' military position at the apex of the Indo-Pacific as the principal driver of disorder.<sup>3</sup> Indeed, for many Indo-Pacific residents, this is not about shutting China out of its extended region but instead incorporating it into a multipolar Indo-Pacific order.<sup>4</sup> However, what is order in the Indo-Pacific precisely? The answer to that is slightly complex. Lately, interpretations and definitions of international order-under which the Indo-Pacific falls-have floated around loosely and interchangeably among policy and scholarly circles.<sup>5</sup> We must first define what order we are seeking to foster in the Indo-Pacific.

Order in the Indo-Pacific has unique characteris-

tics and involves a complex geopolitical matrix along with a set of regional institutions, but it is not separate from the international order it falls under its aegis. We, therefore, need to discuss the international order briefly. While definitions vary, the international order can be understood as:

A coherent set of institutions and corresponding rules, principles, and norms underpinned by international law that guide relations between states to promote stability and cooperation.<sup>6</sup>

What are these institutions, then? At the international level, led by the U.S. from 1945 onward and geographically expanded further following the end of the Cold War, is the United Nations (UN) system, including the Bretton Woods institutions (the World Bank and International Monetary Fund), the World Trade Organization, but also young(er) institutions such as the Asia Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB), and multilateral agreements such as the Paris Agreement. Examples of rules include prohibiting using force against any state's territorial integrity or political independence. Principles include non-intervention and the peaceful resolution of conflicts, while examples of norms, i.e., unwritten but customary standards of behavior, include aid to developing nations and environmental responsibility.

Order in the Indo-Pacific falls under this international order's institutions, rules, principles, and norms. However, some institutions are (predominantly) exclusive to the Indo-Pacific and contribute to order, too. These include more regional institutions (though in some cases geographically expanding beyond the IndoPacific) such as the Asian Development Bank (ADB), Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO), BRICS Plus, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), and the Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP). Though disputed whether they sustain order in the security realm, there are also the more exclusive arrangements such as the Quadrilateral Security Dialogue (Quad) and the U.S.-led Huband-Spokes alliance system.

Currently, order in the Indo-Pacific is characterized by forces that simultaneously sustain, strengthen, erode, expand, and reform it. The predominant force is the re-emergence of Asia at large as an economic, (geo)political, and technological force, particularly China, India, ASEAN, and other actors in the Islamic world. As power balances shift in favor of Asia and the U.S.' unipolar dominance in the economic and security realm erodes in relative terms both globally and across Asia, the Indo-Pacific is in an ordering dynamic in which new institutions are being founded, old principles such as sovereignty and non-interference are simultaneously violated and emphasized, and new principles and norms regarding cooperation and security are promoted.7

Much of this contemplation, conservation, and revisionism is led by powerful re-emerging civilizational states such as China and, to a minor but growing degree, India. China, more materially developed and confident than any other Asian actor, is simultaneously fostering and selectively reforming the international order. China is doing so, for example, by making it more politically value-neutral while shaping the Indo-Pacific security and economic order in ways that erode the U.S.-led security hierarchy in the region, expand China's influence, and create a partially reformed order that, in its view, is more just and reflective of a structurally changed power balance. Some Chinese scholars argue that since the Second World War, the international order has been characterized by hegemony, alliance, and hierarchy and is unfair.8 While this is not entirely inaccurate, and China has been one of the biggest beneficiaries of this order,<sup>9</sup> the push and pull of China and the U.S. can be considered the primary forces that distress the Indo-Pacific order.<sup>10</sup> This push and pull is here to stay as China will not tolerate a non-resident superpower (the U.S.) on its doorstep, as the U.S. does not tolerate anyone on its doorstep.

At the same time, it is essential to note that the international and any Indo-Pacific order was never a finished static project that had to be sustained fully without any receptiveness to reform. Order is a continuous process of sustenance and reform as power constellations change, its legitimacy is questioned, new interpretations and prioritizations emerge on fairness and equality, new institutions are founded or expanded, technology advances, and "new" domains such as ecological changes, cyberspace, artificial intelligence (AI), and space require new laws and norms.

With this laid out, the EU must promote stability and cooperation in the Indo-Pacific without the hard power to contribute to any meaningful hard security balancing. It also needs to promote genuine multilateralism and international law while simultaneously realizing that it and most of its members are not residents of the Indo-Pacific and that its preferences are second to the region's. Therefore, how do the five key powers interpret and prefer the Indo-Pacific order?

## 2.2 Interpretations and Preferences

### 2.2.1 Australia

Starting alphabetically with the five powers, Australia is essentially an Indo-Pacific order status quo power that has become more realistic and pursues a slightly modified status quo in which it has become a much more proactive agent enhancing its security 'autonomy.' Indeed, there is a degree of realism around Australia's language and its actions now that was not there some ten years ago. Exemplary of this is a 2024 defense whitepaper that states, "Australia faces its most complex and challenging strategic environment since the Second World War."11 Australia has benefited significantly from the U.S.-led post-war international economic order and the U.S.-led security architecture of East and Southeast Asia. What slight modification does Australia seek, then?

Australia's primary interpretation is that there was a balance of power that worked in everyone's interests in the West-Pacific and that sustained order. However, it has now been destabilized by China's re-emergence and maritime and military aspirations in the South and East China Seas. As a result, Australia prefers order in the Indo-Pacific by means of sustaining a power balance vis-à-vis China.<sup>12</sup> While Australia officially tends not to refer to an 'Indo-Pacific order,' it strongly advocates for a global rules-based order, which it believes will help sustain stability in the Indo-Pacific.<sup>13</sup> Australia particularly wants to help maintain a favorable balance of power in its near region generally defined to include the Eastern Indian Ocean, Southeast Asia, and the West Pacific as Chinese relations with countries in these regions are expanding swiftly.<sup>14</sup> Australia goes about this by strengthening the existing U.S.led security order and architecture<sup>15</sup> through the so-called Hub-and-Spokes alliance system. Australia's efforts to foster order and stability are thus primarily designed to support the continuation of U.S. military primacy in the region.

Indeed, Australia fosters a security-driven supporting structure for order in the Indo-Pacific that prioritizes the balance of power,<sup>16</sup> one of two upholding pillars of the international order that Henry Kissinger identified-the other one being legitimacy, involving the acceptance of rules, norms, and the general structure of the international, or in this case regional, system by (most) actors within it. In essence, for what Australia sees as a stable and favorable balance of power, the U.S. is critical as a balancer to China, signifying a subtle shift from a U.S. primacy role to a U.S.-led counterbalance to China in which Indo-Pacific resident U.S.allies have more security capacity and a more proactive security role. The role of the U.S. becomes more of a coordinator and ultimate "muscle" and guarantor.17

While some Australian scholars may refer to Canberra as acting anxiously and strategically, possibly "erroneously,"<sup>18</sup> the reality is also that Australia is a vast state in terms of its geography, one of the largest maritime states in terms of Exclusive Economic Zones (EEZ), and the naval space that it has responsibility for, but it is under-resourced demographically and militarily for the scale of it, including defensive of its society and values from any foreign intrusion.<sup>19</sup> As a country that primarily identifies as Western yet is geographically located south of a massive continent (Asia) with many significant powers that are very little Western culturally and in its values, Canberra's rationale is not odd. At the same time, and for these reasons, Australia is compelled to support multilateralism and more robust economic and security cooperation among "like-minded" states.

The latter track has been reinforced in the last decade through historic firsts,<sup>20</sup> such as a strong U.S. military presence in northern Australia with actual U.S. military deployment and the AUKUS (referring to the Australia, UK, and US defense pact) technology sharing arrangement with the U.S. and UK sharing nuclear submarine and other advanced technology. Security cooperation is also advancing through other bilateral and plurilateral relationships such as with the "spokes," including Japan, South Korea, and the Philippines, but beyond these spokes, also with the Quad, U.S.-Japan, Japan-India, and France-India. Beyond the security focus with the U.S. and existing and new partners, multilateral institutions allow Australia to try to moderate different interests and divergence of values and cultures in a region as extensive and diverse as the Indo-Pacific.21

Australia strongly supports what it refers to as the "rules-based international order." It perpetuates a liberal international order vision, as reflected in its 2017 foreign policy white paper.<sup>22</sup> The liberal qualities of the legal order that emerged in the post-Cold War era suit Australia's interests and values, aligning rather closely with domestic organizations and values.<sup>23</sup> Though void of political values, there is a phrase that Foreign Minister Penny Wong likes to use that perhaps best encapsulates how Australia thinks about the Indo-Pacific: "A region where no power dominates, and no one is dominated."<sup>24</sup> Paradoxically, U.S. hard security primacy can be considered a form of dominance but is considered a benign balancer by its allies.<sup>25</sup>

In sum, Australia is a realism-driven status quo power that has made minor modifications to reinforce old security partnerships and build new security and alliances. Australia anticipates this will help uphold order in the Indo-Pacific by deterring China through hard security measures and limiting any Chinese trespassing on international rules.

India's approaches to dealing with China and fostering stability and cooperation differ from Australia's.

### 2.2.2 India

India's interpretations of and preferences for the Indo-Pacific order are best understood through a brief dive into Indian history, especially its colonial past. This requires discussing India's preferences for order post-independence, and looking ahead as Asia re-emerges, particularly China and India itself. Indeed, India's past continues to reverberate in its foreign policy today. Ancient India had contacts with places as far as Rome, Greece, and Eastern Africa to its west and China to the East. The statecraft that followed was rarely expansionist.<sup>26</sup> For much of India's history, a constant in its foreign policy combines idealism, realism, and independence of action. India, at present, holds a wider canvas of its strategic preferences, about who and what it wants to be in the Indo-Pacific order, and its geographic scope for this is considerable.

India, where two centuries of colonialism<sup>27</sup> resulted in a more regional and insular outlook and policies following the first roughly halfcentury, has come to widen its strategic geographic scope significantly throughout the Indo-Pacific. From India's perspective today, the foreign and security policy in the neighborhood covers the entire Asia-Pacific and extends to the Gulf and West Asia (Middle East). India straddles and perceives itself as the fulcrum of the region between Suez and Shanghai, West and East Asia, and the Mediterranean and South China Sea.

India's geographic vision is thus horizontally expansive.<sup>28</sup> Therefore, India sees itself as part of any economic and security order or architecture in the vast Indo-Pacific region or space. Initially, India was not focused on traditional security beyond its region, but it is increasingly veering in that direction like Australia. In essence, India is fixated on three things at the nexus of its core interests and order in the Indo-Pacific as it sees today's Indo-Pacific constraints as partially behavioral but primarily structural.<sup>29</sup> First is applying pragmatism so that the Indian economy can continue to grow (much like China's overarching policy from 1978 to around 2012) and, with that, pursuing a solid economic security strategy. Demonstrative of this is when, in 2020, the government launched the "Atmanirbhar Bharat Abhiyaan," which loosely translates as "self-reliant India campaign."

The second is to tout an "Asia-plus" that includes foreign powers to balance China's growing might and improve ties with the U.S. after many decades of outright strained relations. As Prime Minister Narendra Modi said at the 2018 Shangri-La Dialogue, "India has left behind the hesitations of history" in its relations with the U.S.<sup>30</sup>

Third, in that same speech, the characteristic of India's overarching policy for the Indo-Pacific and Asia is inclusivity, and a call for unity, cohesion, freedom, and openness. India, like Australia, is committed to the rules-based order and multilateralism, particularly to the global commons, but has a more inclusive and dialogue-driven conviction. Notwithstanding the significance of India's continental hostilities and, in turn, the centrality of these issues in Indian diplomacy, a focused maritime outlook has become extremely important for Indian foreign policy. This is evidenced by the release of India's Security and Growth for All in the Region (SAGAR) vision and the launch of the Indo-Pacific Oceans Initiative (IPOI) that builds on it in recent years and their centrality in India's Indo-Pacific outlook.

New Delhi's vision for a multilateral, multipolar Asia aims to ensure that it can, like Australia, balance China's growing dominance in the region but, in India's case, also restore its historic pre-eminent status in Asia.<sup>31</sup> It is important to note that India does not mechanically follow the U.S. or the EU in its interpretations of and preferences for an international order and, thus, order in the Indo-Pacific. India builds on its rich past, strategic culture, and ancient wisdom to promote order and the prevalence of rules, principles, and norms—India's rise today also includes the rejuvenation of a civilizational state as S. Jaishankar, Minister of External Affairs, refers to it.<sup>32</sup>

India's adherence to the UN system underpinned by international law is strong, and India supports multilateralism. The current Modiled ruling administration's approaches draw from their understanding of Indian strategic culture, including epics such as the Ramayana and the Mahabharata and ancient Vedic Hindu texts such as the Upanishads that guided, for example, India's 2023 G20 presidency. Its motto was *Vasudhaiva Kutumbakam*, meaning "the world is one family" or "one earth, one family, one future".<sup>33</sup> India, therefore, promotes cooperative security, much like China and ASEAN, rather than U.S.-led collective security.<sup>34</sup>

Indeed, India believes in adherence to an international rules-based order and international law, particularly freedom of navigation and a free, open, and inclusive Indo-Pacific. However, this is to be achieved through dialogue and diplomacy to maintain peace and security.<sup>35</sup> As one workshop panelist stressed: "In any definition of order, you have to take into account the culture and history of the countries involved in that order." India differs from Australia because it is comfortable sustaining the international and Indo-Pacific order, iniquitous as it may be at times, yet simultaneously, it wants to 1) reform the international and Indo-Pacific order from within through dialogue and institutions based on equality and openness,<sup>36</sup> and, 2) apply a much less aligned and hard security balancing approach to sustaining order than Australia. One such example is the aforementioned SAGAR vision, which focuses

on maritime security, economic cooperation, and collective action to address regional challenges, particularly in the Indian Ocean region—India's traditional area of dominance.

As we continue with Japan, we notice that its interpretations and preferences are closer to Australia's than India's.

### 2.2.3 Japan

Japan's interpretations of and preferences for the Indo-Pacific order have undergone a twophased evolution in nuance and geographic scope. Japan's Free and Open Indo-Pacific (FOIP), initiated in 2016 by former Prime Minister Shinzo Abe, reaffirmed the region's security and economic rules-based order cobbled together after the Second World War.<sup>37</sup> Since 2022, and though it was mentioned as early as the 1980s, Japan has promoted the Free and Open International Order (FOIO). FOIO's primary objective is to consolidate order in the Indo-Pacific based on the existing rules-based international order.

Indeed, FOIO is an updated vision based on the centrality of international law to stress the interconnectedness to the rule of law in all things order, including in reference to Ukraine, Gaza, or any other violation that does not necessarily restrict itself to the Indo-Pacific.<sup>38</sup> But also because Japan has grown cognizant that the Global South, increasingly more vocal and less acquiesce, is questioning the legitimacy of a (liberal) international order whose rules and norms have primarily been shaped by economically advanced states, and chimeric approaches to rules-abidance by the West, particularly the U.S.<sup>39</sup>

FOIO, thus Japan, through prudently places Indo-Pacific order under the aegis of international order, with a much more proactive and coordinative role for itself. By doing this, Japan opens the door to order and ordering, i.e., the process of fostering order, to more actors across the Indo-Pacific and stakeholders worldwide, such as the EU, to care about the Indo-Pacific order. However, Japan still sees the U.S. leadership in upholding the international and Indo-Pacific order as "indispensable."40 Yet, the security thinking in Japan is continuously evolving beyond the conventional U.S. security umbrella and making partnerships that may be consequential for its future. Simultaneously, Japan is not keen to see the unfolding contest between China and the U.S. venture into armed conflict, which, if it materializes, will not be far from Japanese territory.

While Japan upholds multilateralism, at the same time, propelled by shifts in the regional balance of power, particularly the rise of China and the relative decline of the United States, as its overall security strategy, Japan, like Australia, has been determined to enhance national defense by increasing its capabilities and strengthening the U.S.-Japan alliance, while also transforming its partnerships with like-minded states, such as Australia and India, into a diplomatic, and potentially military, alignment.<sup>41</sup>

Like Australia, Japan wants to become a more significant player by increasing its defense and diplomatic-strategic capabilities. Japan's efforts to foster order in the Indo-Pacific should be understood in the context of its deeper strategic situation and, in particular, its position as a secondary but still highly influential power.<sup>42</sup> Japan is actively steering the IndoPacific debate and, similar to Australia, sees a stable status quo changing due to China's re-emergence and aspirations to eject the U.S. from the Western Pacific's so-called first island chain. In this dynamic, Japan, geopolitically at the geographic brunt of (re)surgent powers China, Russia, and North Korea, has no choice but to become more active in Indo-Pacific ordering. Similar to Australia, for Japan, this translates into closer cooperation with the U.S., allies, and partners to build a strong balance of power and deterrence vis-à-vis China. Success has been enjoyed, with Japan increasingly being seen as a benign potential counterweight to China in, for instance, Southeast Asia.<sup>43</sup>

To Japan, in the context of order in the Indo-Pacific, the following four objectives are critical:

- Maritime security and, more specifically, freedom of navigation, sea lanes of communication, and choke point security;
- the promotion of free trade and investment that includes China, but at the same time de-risks from China;
- cyber security and the control of critical technology flows; and,
- 4) nuclear non-proliferation.<sup>44</sup>

Of these four objectives, objective 1 (freedom of navigation), objective 2 (free trade and investment), and objective 4 (non-proliferation) are important principles of the international order, and Japan tends to prioritize these the most in its foreign policies.

Japan differs from Australia and India in its interpretations of and preferences for the Indo-Pacific order in that, unlike Australia, it geographically and conceptually opens the aperture and stresses the international order more.<sup>45</sup> At the same time, Japan, like Australia but unlike India, sticks to collective security solutions by cementing ties with the U.S., expanding its capabilities, and strengthening and expanding its security network. Japan is clear-minded about its interpretations and policy direction.

### 2.2.4 South Korea

Like Japan, South Korea is positioned right on some of the world's and region's most profound geopolitical fissures. South Korea hesitated to develop an official position on the Indo-Pacific order. This primarily resulted from a cautious strategic approach to the Indo-Pacific, mainly to avoid upsetting China, by the former President Moon Jae-in administration (2017–2022).<sup>46</sup> In late 2022, relatively belatedly, South Korea launched its pivot to the Indo-Pacific, namely the "Strategy for a Free, Peaceful and Prosperous Indo-Pacific Region."47 With this, South Korea moved from an era of so-called strategic ambiguity to more strategic clarity concerning relations with China and the U.S., aligning stronger with the latter's security vision and architecture and with the objective of lessening (over) dependence on China in critical sectors. The South Korean strategy wants to "actively promote and strengthen a regional order shaped not by force or coercion but by rules and universal values. We oppose unilateral change of status quo by force and pursue a harmonious regional order where nations' rights are respected, and our shared interests are explored."48 Stressing a triad of freedom, peace, and prosperity, South Korea's interpretations and preferences partially align with Japan's. Furthermore, similar to Japan, this entails (even) closer security ties with the U.S.

South Korea has preferred the U.S. as part of the new-found "strategic clarity" for Korean Peninsular concerns, in particular since China has not been willing to criticize North Korea's belligerent tactics, but perhaps also because China's ordering principles of cooperative and indivisible security (see China's Global Security Initiative) are not clear (enough)even if rhetorically they sound appealing. This also shows that South Korea's non-economic engagement with China remains fraught, with even the much-awaited 2024 China-Japan-South Korea trilateral summit failing to produce noteworthy results and skirting around security concerns. That China is still South Korea's largest trade partner highlights that balancing or hedging between China and the U.S.--its top security partner---can never wholly be avoided unless South Korea gives earnest momentum to its diversification goals.<sup>49</sup>

There seemed immense possibilities for South Korea to leverage its status as an economictechnological global powerhouse to transform its diplomatic profile, including as a "Global Pivotal State" to help foster order.<sup>50</sup> Yet, in the two years, the achievements have been limited due to a greater preoccupation with North Korea, embodied by the Washington Declaration.<sup>51</sup> A notable development is a trilateral cooperation between South Korea, Japan, and the U.S., a critical strategic alignment to enhance security and stability in the Indo-Pacific region. However, in practice, South Korea's role in the Indo-Pacific order is often forcibly confined to daily existential threats on the Korean Peninsula.

One example of this trilateral affability is in response to the North Korean regime's accelerated ballistic missile launches, boosting of North Korean nuclear weapons capabilities, and the recent defense pact with Russia. Indeed, geopolitically, South Korea and Japan are unlikely to be anyone's envy. Both must deal with a resurgent Russia, a belligerent North Korea, and a China that calls these two states to calibrate to a new East Asian order that minimizes the security role of the U.S. Indeed, South Korea's recent efforts to foster order in the Indo-Pacific are held back by strong and developing Northeast Asian security challenges. The Peninsula's "weight" often forces South Korea to focus on its region specifically. Of course, order in Northeast Asia equates with order in the Indo-Pacific.

Examples of slow progress across the Indo-Pacific include the Korea-ASEAN Solidarity Initiative (KASI), which has been unable to truly augment its strategic cooperation with ASEAN and its member states beyond With economic engagements. India, negotiations for upgrading the Comprehensive Economic Partnership Agreement (CEPA) have been relatively slow; technology and security cooperation has not found its gears despite some military exchanges; and, importantly, President Yoon Suk-yeol has not yet visited India on an official state visit.

The perceived threat from a dominant China for the Indo-Pacific is also well within the South Korean foreign policy remit despite these new Korean Peninsular constraints: both its trilateral partners Japan and the United States have openly cited China's behavior, including attempts to "reshape the international order for its benefit at the expense of others," as the main reason for strengthening the alliance in East Asia.<sup>52</sup> South Korea, while not verbally instigating China excessively, has not objected to such assertions. Its Indo-Pacific strategy stresses the principles of inclusiveness, trust, and reciprocity as building blocks of cooperation and order.<sup>53</sup> Bogged down with Peninsular challenges and domestic political challenges, South Korea has stipulated its interpretation and preferences regarding the Indo-Pacific, particularly stressing inclusivity, trust, and reciprocity, including concerning China, referring to it as a "key partner for achieving prosperity and peace in the Indo-Pacific region."<sup>54</sup>

On a spectrum, South Korea's interpretations of and preferences for order in the Indo-Pacific lie between Japan's and India's, with Australia slightly more distant. Arguably, and like Japan, geographic proximity to China is a shaping factor.

Finally, we arrive at Vietnam's interpretations and preferences.

## 2.2.5 Vietnam

From the Socialist Republic of Vietnam's point of view, the avoidance of falling prey again to big power foray or coercion, the sustenance of the Communist Party of Vietnam (CPV), and economic development and pragmatism are the three primary lenses through which they view order.<sup>55</sup> Sovereignty and defense rule the roost in particular. Vietnam has not yet officially embraced the Indo-Pacific concept, instead preferring "Asia-Pacific," although some of the tenets of the concept, including the emphasis on rules and freedom of navigation, closely align with Vietnamese interpretations and preferences.<sup>56</sup> This speaks to one of Vietnam's most important foreign policy priorities: finding peace and stability in the South China Sea disputes with China and other claimants. As an official communist state located along one of the world's primary arteries of trade and right in the middle of the world's fastestgrowing markets (China, India, ASEAN), the Vietnamese authorities pursue a unique blend of ideology and pragmatism.

Indeed, amidst strong economic ties with China, Vietnam has been diversifying its relations by seeking security and defense ties with Indo-Pacific partners like the EU, India,<sup>57</sup> Japan, and Russia.<sup>58</sup> According to the "2019 National Defence Strategy," Vietnam is set to "closely attach national peace and interests to regional and global peace, security, and stability. In addition to the goals of firmly protecting independence, sovereignty, territorial unity and integrity, peace, and national interests, the CPV, the State, and the people, Vietnam actively and proactively participates in preserving peace and stability in the region and the world."59 Vietnam, a firsthand victim of interference and disorder when it was traumatized by big power contestation and interference (the Soviet Union, the U.S., and China)<sup>60</sup> in the second half of the twentieth century, astutely pursues sovereignty and non-alignment. ASEAN remains the primary vehicle through which it interprets and prefers order in the Indo-Pacific.

For Vietnam, the ASEAN Charter has set the norms of dialogue, consensus, and noninterference in each other's affairs.<sup>61</sup> Vietnam sees proactive and active international bilateral and multilateral integration as its goal and highly values initiatives by major powers to promote dialogue, including the US Free and Open Indo-Pacific, China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI), and its "shared future of mankind," and India's Act East Policy.62 These initiatives overlap with its historic "Four No's" principle, reiterated in its 2019 Defense White Paper. This policy comprises: 1) no military alliances, 2) no siding with one country against another, 3) no foreign military bases on Vietnamese territory, and 4) no use of force or threat to use force in international relations. The "Four No's" principle underscores Vietnam's commitment to sovereignty, neutrality, and peaceful coexistence in its international relations and, thus, its order preferences. For this reason, rather than joining and supporting the U.S.-led Free and Open Indo-Pacific in a full-fledged way, Vietnam has chosen to work selectively on some issues with the U.S. More specifically, while Vietnam proactively embraces the economic dimension of the Free and Open Indo-Pacific, it remains cautious about security.63

Still, while generally adhering to its "Four No's" principle, Vietnam has scaled up its security interactions with countries like the U.S., India, and Japan. Indeed, Vietnam is known for its "bamboo diplomacy" referencing the bamboo plant's strong roots, sturdy stems, and flexible branches—blurring the lines of strict neutrality with the two big powers, the U.S. and China. In the words of Foreign Minister Bui Thanh Son, Vietnam's foreign policy caters to "independence, selfreliance, peace, friendship and cooperation, and multilateralization and diversification of external relations and proactive international integration."<sup>64</sup>

While Vietnam welcomes its relationship with the U.S., it is reticent to get too close, particularly in the defense realm. Views on the degree to which Vietnam sees China as a risk and disordering force vary. For instance, U.S. scholar David Shambaugh argues that the China-Vietnam relationship is much closer than many Americans understand. Undoubtedly, China's (partial) occupation and militarization of the South China Sea is an essential concern for Vietnam. Still, the South China Sea is a more significant issue in Washington than in the region.<sup>65</sup> Other scholars argue quite the opposite and state as evidence the closer security cooperation between Vietnam and Quad members.66

In sum, the keywords for Vietnam's foreign policy and interpretations of and preferences for order in the Indo-Pacific are rules-based, yet simultaneously independence, self-reliance, diversification of partners, genuine multilateralism, economic development, and peace.

Table 1 (on page 25) provides an overview of the five powers' interpretations of and preferences for fostering order in the Indo-Pacific.

### 2.3 Conclusions

The shared understanding between the five powers in interpreting order in the Indo-Pacific and their preferences are primarily in their response to the following factors (also see Table 1):

- China's reemergence and anxiousness over its territorial (Taiwan and maritime) ambitions;
- 2) unchecked Sino-U.S. contestation; and,
- 3) economic security interests.

ASPECT	AUSTRALIA	INDIA	JAPAN	SOUTH KOREA	VIETNAM
Interpretation of Order	<ul> <li>Rules-based</li> <li>Free and open Indo-Pacific</li> <li>Multilateralism</li> <li>Anchored by U.S. leadership and military alliances</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Rules-based</li> <li>Free and open order</li> <li>Inclusive and multipolar</li> <li>Power balancing without military alliances</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>International order as the aegis</li> <li>Free and open rules-based</li> <li>Multilateralism</li> <li>Co-existence and economic integration</li> <li>Anchored by U.S. leadership and military alliances</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Free and open</li> <li>Trust and dialogue</li> <li>Focused on economic stability</li> <li>Partial strategic alignment with the U.S. and allies</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Multipolar with centrality of ASEAN and ASEAN values</li> <li>Rules-based</li> <li>Southeast Asia focused</li> <li>Sovereignty- centric</li> </ul>
Preference for order	<ul> <li>Maintain U.Sled regional security hegemony to counterbalance any Chinese violations of order</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>'Asia-plus' multi-polar order with true multilateralism and emphasis on sovereignty and autonomy</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Maintain U.Sled regional security hegemony to counterbalance any Chinese violations of order</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>A stable trade- oriented order that leans towards the US for security and balance</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Regional balance with strong ASEAN leadership and non- interference</li> </ul>
Geographic focus	<ul> <li>Indo-Pacific &amp; Pacific Islands</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Indian Ocean/ Asia</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Broader Indo- Pacific/international</li> </ul>	• Korean Peninsula	Southeast Asia
Security alliance	<ul> <li>Heavy reliance on the U.S. (AUKUS, Quad)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Multi-aligned, strategic autonomy</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>U.Saligned, Hub- and-Spokes alliance, Quad</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>US-aligned, Hub-and-Spokes alliance</li> </ul>	Non-aligned
Economic engagement	<ul> <li>Integration combined with supply chain resilience, Pacific aid</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Integration, connectivity via Act East policy, IMEC, pragmatic but increasingly supply chain resilience</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Integration combined with supply chain resilience, quality infrastructure, ODA leader</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Integration combined with increasing supply chain resilience</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Pragmatic, pro- integration</li> </ul>
China policy	<ul> <li>Strategy of denial/ comparatively 'confrontational'</li> </ul>	Cooperative- competitive	<ul> <li>Cooperative- competitive, active balancing and deterring</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cooperative, deterring and balancing without direct confrontation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cooperative but wary</li> </ul>
Military focus	• High, to sustain power balance	Moderate	<ul> <li>Fairly high and growing, to sustain power balance</li> </ul>	• Moderate	• Fairly high

#### Table 1. Five Powers' Interpretations of and Preferences for Fostering Order in Indo-Pacific

While geographic focus ranges from the more international (Japan) to the near(er) (Vietnam), a free, open, and multipolar Indo-Pacific that includes the U.S. and facilitates economic integration, free maritime navigation, and multilateral approaches to order and (any) reform is essentially the interpretation of order of all five powers. Virtually all five powers refer to the international order based on rules and/or international law. However, many do not highlight rules and institutions too articulately, but when they do, it tends to be in reference to the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS). Similarly, while most of the five powers seek to improve the resilience of their supply chains and diversify their import and export markets away from overdependence on China, they all continue further economic cooperation and trade with China.

Nevertheless, there are rather stark differences in their preferences for fostering order. What is striking is that hard security is a popular choice, particularly for Australia, the geographically most distant to China and a stout US ally since the Second World War, and Japan. Both Australia and Japan, and South Korea to a minor but growing degree, see the U.S. as a critical security balancer with whom they, as active agents, can help foster order as primarily status quo powers. They perceive the balance of power as *the* critical pillar that upholds order in the Indo-Pacific.

Time will tell the efficacy of this approach, as a) China considers the collective U.S.-led security in East Asia not part of the international order but as disordering and illegitimate, and b) liberal institutionalists argue that institutions, norms, and rules provide more durable solutions to order and stability by reducing the inherent mistrust and instability of power balancing.<sup>67</sup> Perhaps a two-pronged approach in which order is discussed and, where agreed upon, is reformed while sustaining a power balance is the best way to foster order. Ultimately, stability, cooperation, genuine multilateralism, and abidance by international law must rule the roost.

Indeed, while Australia and Japan adopt proactive, security-heavy strategies in the Indo-Pacific, India, and Vietnam, while not marginalizing hard security, favor a more balanced approach that prioritizes dialogue, genuine multilateralism, and more cooperative than collective solutions to security. India, emphasizing its strategic autonomy, has a robust Indian Ocean focus while sustaining that any resident or non-resident actor positively contributing to Indo-Pacific security is welcome-effectively promoting an 'Asiaplus.' South Korea, meanwhile, bonded by a volatile Korean Peninsula, and Vietnam, still like India on the lower rungs of overall economic development, prioritizes economic engagement over overt security commitments and power balancing. These differences highlight how, inter alia, geographic distance, domestic priorities and capabilities, and historical relationships shape each power's interpretations of and preferences for order in the Indo-Pacific. Nevertheless, all five powers see themselves as active agents that foster order.

With this clarified, the next chapter examines the five powers' views of the EU's role in contributing to order thus far and what it could do better.

#### Endnotes

- 1 Rajeshwari Krishnamurthy and Richard Ghiasy, The Transitioning Security Order in the Indo-Pacific: Furthering India-EU & Triangular Collaboration (Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung, 2020), 38–40, https://library.fes.de/pdf-files/bueros/ asia/20110.pdf.
- 2 Workshop at SWP, Berlin, December 2024.
- 3 Richard Ghiasy, *China's Perspectives on the International Order: How should the EU proceed* (Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung, 2024), https://www.rosalux.de/en/publication/id/52690/chinas-perspectives-on-the-international-order.
- 4 Rory Medcalf, "Indo-Pacific Empire: China, America and the contest for the world's pivotal region," Manchester University Press, 2020.
- 5 Stephen M. Walt, *The Hell of Good Intentions: America's Foreign Policy Elite and the Decline of U.S. Primacy* (New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2018).
- 6 Definition by the authors.
- 7 Such as cooperative security by the Chinese and Indian authorities.
- 8 Xinbo Wu, "China in search of a liberal partnership international order," *International Affairs* 94, no. 5 (2018): 995–1018, p. 1016; Xuetong Yan, "The Rise of China and Its Power Status," *The Chinese Journal of International Politics* 1, no. 1 (2006): 5–33; Zhang Yongjin, "China and the Struggle for Legitimacy of a Rising Power," *The Chinese Journal of International Politics* 8, no. 3 (2015): 301–322.
- 9 Obert Hodzi and Yu-Wen Chen, "Follow the Flow: China's Strategy to Global Leadership," *China Quarterly of International Strategic Studies* 4, no. 1 (2018): 1–21; Obert Hodzi and Yu-Wen Chen, "The Great Rejuvenation? China's Search for a New 'Global Order," ISDP, 2017, 1–41.
- 10 See, for instance, Nick Bisley, "The Indo-Pacific: A New Fault Line in Global Security," in Victor Mauer and Myriam Dunn Cavelty (eds.), *Global Security in an Age of Crisis* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2023), 353–73.
- 11 "2024 National Defence Strategy," Department of Defence, Australian Government, 2024, p. 11, https://www. defence.gov.au/about/strategic-planning/2024-national-defence-strategy-2024-integrated-investment-program.
- 12 Nick Bisley and Benjamin Schreer, "Australia and the Rules-Based Order in Asia," *Asian Survey* 58, no. 2 (2018): 302–319.
- 13 Panelists, virtual workshop held in May and June 2024. See also "2024 National Defence Strategy," n. 11.
- 14 "2020 Defence Strategic Update," Department of Defence, Australian Government, July 1, 2020, https://www. defence.gov.au/about/publications/2020-defence-strategic-update; "2017 Foreign Policy White Paper," Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, Australian Government, November 23, 2017, https://www.dfat.gov.au/publications/ minisite/2017-foreign-policy-white-paper/fpwhitepaper/index.html.
- 15 In contrast to security order, security architectures involve clearer sets of obligations, commitments, and possibly even privileges, arising from and governed by treaty-institutional foundations and implications. On a global level, NATO is a prime example of a security architecture. The SCO and the African Union's African Peace and Security Architecture (APSA) are limited but relevant examples in the Indo-Pacific region. See also Krishnamurthy and Ghiasy, n. 4, Annexure 1.
- 16 Panelist, virtual workshop held by the authors in May 2024. See also "2024 National Defence Strategy," n. 11.
- 17 See also Krishnamurthy and Ghiasy, n. 1.
- 18 See Hugh White, "The China Choice: Why we should share power (Oxford: University Press, 2012); Amy King, "Power, shared ideas and order transition: China, the United States, and the creation of the Bretton Woods order," European Journal of International Relations 28, no. 4 (2022): 910–933; Nick Bisley, "Australia and the Evolving International Order," in Mark Beeson and Shahar Hameiri (eds.), Navigating the New International Disorder: Australia in World Affairs 2011–2015. (Cambridge University Press, Volume 12, May 2024), 55.
- 19 Megan Price, "Norm erosion and Australia's challenge to the rules-based order," *Australian Journal of International Affairs* 75, no. 2(2021): 161–177.
- 20 Some would argue that Australia has steadily strengthened its relationship with the U.S. since 2001, see, e.g., Nick Bisley, n. 18.
- 21 Panelist, virtual workshop held in May 2024.
- 22 "2017 Foreign Policy White Paper," Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, Australian Government, 2017, https://www.dfat.gov.au/publications/minisite/2017-foreign-policy-white-paper.
- 23 Panelist, virtual workshop held in May 2024.
- 24 Penny Wong, "National Press Club Address: Australian Interests in the Regional Balance of Power," https://www. foreignminister.gov.au/minister/penny-wong/speech/national-press-club-address-australian-interests-regionalbalance-power.

- 25 Evelyn Goh, *The Struggle for Order: Hegemony, Hierarchy, and Transition in Post-Cold War East Asia* (Oxford University Press, 2013).
- 26 A notable exception being the Tamil Chola Empire from 300 BCE to 1279 CE.
- 27 See, for instance, John Keay, *India: A History* (New York: Grove Press, 2010), 51-36; Shashi Tharoor, *Inglorious Empire: What the British Did to India* (Penguin, 2017).
- 28 Robert D. Monsoon Kaplan, *The Indian Ocean and the Future of American Power* (New York: Random House, 2011).
- 29 S. Jaishankar, The India Way: Strategies for an uncertain world, (New Delhi: HarperCollins, 2020), 51.
- 30 Narendra Modi, "Prime Minister's keynote address at Shangri La Dialogue," Ministry of External Affairs, India, June 1, 2018, https://www.mea.gov.in/Speeches-Statements.htm?dtl/29943/ Prime+Ministers+Keynote+Address+at+Shangri+La+Dialogue+June+01+2018.
- 31 Jagannath Panda and Richard Ghiasy, "Asia's security order according to India," *The Diplomat*, October 31, 2024, https://thediplomat.com/2024/10/asias-security-order-according-to-india/.
- 32 S. Jaishankar, Why Bharat matters (New Delhi: Rupa, 2024).
- 33 S. Jaishankar, n. 32, 47-67. See also the Indian Ministry of External Affairs' Annual Report 2023, https://www.mea. gov.in/Images/CPV/38005\_Final-MEA-AR-2023-English.pdf.
- 34 Jagannath Panda and Richard Ghiasy, n. 31.
- 35 Panelists, virtual workshop held in October 2024. See also the Indian Ministry of External Affairs' Annual Report 2023, n. 33, 154.
- 36 Indian Ministry of External Affairs' Annual Report 2023, n. 33, 4.
- 37 John Lee, *The "Free and Open Indo-Pacific" and implications for ASEAN* (ISEAS-Yusof Ishak Institute, 2019), 1st ed.
- 38 Panelists, virtual workshops May and October 2024; see also Jagannath Panda, Julie Yu-Wen Chen, and Richard Ghiasy, "Japan: No Indo-Pacific order without international order," *The Diplomat*, June 25, 2024, https:// thediplomat.com/2024/06/japan-no-indo-pacific-order-without-international-order//.
- 39 Panelists, virtual workshop held in October 2024.
- 40 F. Kishida, "For the Future: Our Global Partnership," Address by Prime Minister Fumio Kishida at a Joint Meeting of the United States Congress, Prime Minister's Office of Japan, https://japan.kantei.go.jp/101\_kishida/ statement/202404/11speech.html; see also Ryoko Nakano, "Japan and the liberal international order: Rules-based, multilateral, inclusive and localized," *International Affairs* 99, no. 4 (2023): 1421–1438.
- 41 Kei Koga, "Japan's 'Indo-Pacific' question: countering China or shaping a new regional order?" *International Affairs* 96, no. 1 (2020): 49–73.
- 42 David Envall and Thomas Wilkins, "Japan and the New Indo-Pacific Order: The Rise of an Entrepreneurial Power," *Pacific Review* 36, no. 4 (2023): 691-722.
- 43 David Scott, "The Geoeconomics and Geopolitics of Japan's 'Indo-Pacific' Strategy," *Journal of Asian Security and International Affairs* 6, no. 2 (2019): 136–161, p. 148.
- 44 Panelists, virtual workshops held in June and October 2024.
- 45 Kei Hakata, "RIP FOIP? Examining Japan's New Foreign Policy Mantra," *The Diplomat*, November 3, 2023, https://thediplomat.com/2023/11/rip-foip-examining-japans-new-foreign-policy-mantra/.
- 46 Eric. J. Ballbach, "South Korea's evolving Indo-Pacific strategy: Opportunities and challenges for cooperation with the EU," Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik (SWP), Research Paper 2, March 2023, pp. 5, 6, 9, 18. See also Huynh Tam-Sang, "Bolstering middle power standing: South Korea's response to U.S. Indo-Pacific strategy from Trump to Biden," *Pacific Review* 36, no. 1 (2023): 32–60, https://doi.org/10.1080/09512748.2021.1928737.
- 47 "Strategy for a Free, Peaceful and Prosperous Indo-Pacific Region," Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Republic of Korea, 2022, https://www.mofa.go.kr/eng/brd/m\_5676/view.do?seq=322133.
- 48 Ibid.
- 49 Panelist, workshop June 2024.
- 50 Kuyoun Chung, "Recalibrating South Korea's role and regional network in the Indo-Pacific: An analysis from a network-centered approach," *Asian Politics & Policy* 15, no. 1 (2023): 21–36.
- 51 The Washington Declaration, issued on April 26, 2023, by U.S. President Joe Biden and South Korean President Yoon Suk Yeol, commemorated the 70th anniversary of the U.S.-South Korea alliance. This declaration reaffirmed the nations' mutual defense commitments and introduced the establishment of a Nuclear Consultative Group (NCG) to enhance nuclear deterrence strategies against North Korean threats. It also emphasized the U.S.'s commitment

to extended deterrence, including the deployment of strategic assets to the Korean Peninsula. See "Full text of Washington Declaration adopted at Yoon-Biden summit," *Yonhap*, April 27, 2023, https://en.yna.co.kr/view/AEN20230427001700315.

- 52 Walter Sim, "US, Japan overhaul security alliance amid China's strategic challenge," *The Straits Times*, July 29, 2024, https://www.straitstimes.com/asia/east-asia/us-japan-overhaul-security-alliance-amid-china-s-strategic-challenge.
- 53 Jo He-rim, "What Will Korean Version of Indo-Pacific Strategy Look Like? Eyes on How South Korea Will Position Itself in the Strategic Region to Navigate between US, China," *The Korea Herald*, November 10, 2022, https:// www.koreaherald.com/view.php?ud=20221110000669.
- 54 "Strategy for a Free, Peaceful and Prosperous Indo-Pacific Region," n. 47.
- 55 Panelists, workshops held in May and October 2024.
- 56 "US-Vietnam relations: A conversation with Vietnam's Foreign Minister Bui Thanh Son," Brookings, March 26, 2024, https://www.brookings.edu/events/us-vietnam-relations-a-conversation-with-vietnams-foreign-minister-bui-thanh-son/.
- 57 See, for instance, Sanjay Pulipaka and Libni Garg, "India and Vietnam in the Indo-Pacific," *India Quarterly* 77, no. 2 (2021): 143–158, https://doi-org.ezproxy.leidenuniv.nl/10.1177/09749284211004984.
- 58 See "EU and Viet Nam step up security and defence cooperation with signature of a Framework Participation Agreement for participation in EU crisis management operations," European External Action Service, October 17, 2019, https://www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/eu-and-viet-nam-step-security-and-defence-cooperation-signatureframework-participation\_en; "Raksha Mantri Shri Rajnath Singh & his Vietnamese counterpart General Phan Van Giang hold bilateral talks in Hanoi," Press Information Bureau (PIB), June 8, 2022, https://www.pib.gov.in/ PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=1831981; "Japan and Vietnam agree to boost ties and start discussing Japanese military aid amid China threat," AP, 2022, https://apnews.com/article/japan-vietnam-china-security-partnership-98d1f48de053faf9ba7e71f21187bfb6; "Vietnam, Russia enhance defence cooperation," Vietnam Plus, June 6, 2023, https://en.vietnamplus.vn/vietnam-russia-enhance-defence-cooperation-post255275.vnp.
- 59 "Vietnam National Defence White Paper," Ministry of National Defence, Socialist Republic of Vietnam, 2019, 6, https://mod.gov.vn/wcm/connect/08963129-c9cf-4c86-9b5c-81a9e2b14455/2019VietnamNationalDefence.pdf?MO D=AJPERES&CACHEID=ROOTWORKSPACE-08963129-c9cf-4c86-9b5c-81a9e2b14455-mXO.UaH.
- 60 The Soviet Union did not directly fight in the Vietnam War but played a significant role in supporting North Vietnam as part of its efforts to promote and sustain the spread of communism globally. America ended up fighting a long and brutal war against Vietnam mainly because of misguided fears based on the domino theory. See John J. Mearsheimer, *The Great Delusion: Liberal Dreams and International Realities* (Yale University Press, 2018), Chapter 8. China's role in Vietnam was driven by its strategic interests and ideological commitment to supporting communist movements in Asia.
- 61 Panelist, workshop May 2024.
- 62 Panelists, workshops May and June 2024.
- 63 Cong Tung Nguyen, "Uneasy embrace: Vietnam's responses to the U.S. Free and Open Indo-Pacific strategy amid U.S.–China rivalry," *The Pacific Review* 35, no. 5 (2022): 884-914, https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy. leidenuniv.nl/doi/full/10.1080/09512748.2021.1894223#abstract.
- 64 Bui Thanh Son, "FM addresses seminar on Vietnam-U.S. relations in Washington, D.C.," People's Army Newspaper, March 27, 2024, https://en.qdnd.vn/foreign-affairs/bilateral-relations/fm-addresses-seminar-on-vietnamu-s-relations-in-washington-d-c-564465.
- 65 David Shambaugh, Where Great Powers Meet—America & China in Southeast Asia (New York: Oxford University Press, 2021), 177–179.
- 66 See, for instance, Sung Chul Jung, Jaehyon Lee, and Ji Yong Lee, "The Indo-Pacific Strategy and US Alliance Network Expandability: Asian Middle Powers' Positions on Sino-US Geostrategic Competition in Indo-Pacific Region," *Journal of Contemporary China* 30, no. 127 (2020): 53–68, https://doi-org.ezproxy.leidenuniv.nl/10.1080 /10670564.2020.1766909.
- 67 See, for instance, Robert Keohane, *After Hegemony: Cooperation and Discord in the World Political Economy* (Princeton University Press, 1984); G. John Ikenberry, *After Victory: Institutions, Strategic Restraint, and the Rebuilding of Order after Major Wars* (Princeton University Press, 2001).



# CHAPTER 3

# Five Powers' Views of the EU's Role

Photo credit: Artjazz/Shutterstock

This chapter briefly discusses the EU's approaches to the Indo-Pacific. It then delves into the five powers' views on whether and how the EU fosters order in the Indo-Pacific and, building on the findings of Chapter 2, what it could do better before closing the chapter with conclusions

# 3.1 What Is and What Could Be

The EU approaches the Indo-Pacific region through three primary policy objectives:

- 1) economic,
- 2) diplomatic, and
- 3) defense/security.

Economically, the importance of the Indo-Pacific for the EU is due to the EU's heavy dependence on this region and one that will only grow as the Indo-Pacific markets are far from reaching their potential. Over one-third of all European exports to the Indo-Pacific region transit through Indo-Pacific sea routes.<sup>1</sup> The EU actively promotes economic interests by signing new trade and investment agreements and diversifying supply chains in the world's largest and fastest-growing combined market. Examples include the EU-Japan Economic Partnership Agreement, effective in 2019, which has bolstered trade by reducing tariffs and facilitating market access; the EU-Vietnam Free Trade Agreement (FTA), operational since 2020, which eliminated the majority of tariffs, promoting increased trade flows; and the EU- Singapore FTA, in force since 2019, which enhanced trade in goods and services between the two economies. Meanwhile, FTAs with both India and Indonesia are in the making. Building on the 2018 "Connecting Europe and Asia" strategy, the EU connects and promotes an alternative approach to China's BRI, enhancing transparency, sustainability, and local ownership.

Regarding diplomacy, the EU aims for a stable Indo-Pacific region based on democracy, rule of law, human rights, and international law.<sup>2</sup> The EU reaches out by employing bilateral diplomacy and promoting effective rules-based multilateralism to address various challenges from climate change, biodiversity, ocean governance, water reduction, and natural disaster risk reduction. In the defense and security realm, the growing non-traditional security challenges in the Indo-Pacific region are issues that the EU is interested in approaching, predominantly maritime security, with priority given to ensuring free and open maritime communication routes and fully complying with international law. There is also concern about unchecked Sino-U.S. contestation and Chinese claims over the South China Sea, but the EU can barely project hard power as far as the Indo-Pacific. With this backdrop, and building on Chapter 2, this chapter expands on how the five powers view these primary objectives and the EU and its member-states' formation and implementation of their Indo-Pacific policies and strategies concerning order.

As this chapter will reveal, official documents and speeches of key leaders from the five powers are generally optimistic about the EU's cooperation with them (i.e., bilaterally) in the Indo-Pacific. This, however, should be read with caution as diplomatic language tends to be courteous and does not tell much about EU policy implementation or more nuanced views.

#### 3.1.1 Australia

Australia supports the EU's Indo-Pacific engagement and efforts to maintain order therein.<sup>3</sup> Comments from Australia's officials and leading intellectuals similarly express that the EU and Australia have shared interest and desire for a peaceful, stable, prosperous world that respects sovereignty.<sup>4</sup>

While Australia is rhetorically open to working with the EU to foster order in the Indo-Pacific, Australian observers have strikingly different views on whether Australia believes in the EU's capacity to play a significant role in the Indo-Pacific.<sup>5</sup> For one thing, Canberra's focus on order-building and maintenance in the Indo-Pacific, as explained in Chapter 2, hinges on its hard security cooperation with the U.S.<sup>6</sup> Australia's recent foreign policy document, the 2023 Defense Strategic Review, notes that Australia's alliance with the U.S. is becoming even more imperative and vital.<sup>7</sup> This will include working more closely with the U.S., India, and Japan in the Quad that advocates for a free and open Indo-Pacific. In addition, under the AUKUS partnership with the U.S. and the UK, Australia will acquire nuclearpowered submarines (SSNs) and participate in the joint development of a new class of SSNs, the SSN-AUKUS. AUKUS Pillar Two focuses on advancing broader defense capabilities, including cyber security, AI, and quantum technologies, further bolstering the strategic technological edge of the three nations.<sup>8</sup> The EU has a limited role in this context.

As an Australian panelist in a project workshop elaborated, when we think about ways to build and foster order, there are fundamentally three different ways. The first is that actors can leverage their material dominance to impose or enforce (new) rules, much like how the European powers displaced the Chinese order in the mid-1800s. The second is that an actor can institutionalize (new) rules by forming a preponderant coalition and then punish members of that coalition that violate those rules, such as the EU in post-war Europe. We have seen the EU leveraging its rule-making and rule-enforcing capabilities, a so-called disciplining with prospective or incumbent EU member-states. The third way is that an actor cultivates informal rules by outlining inviolable guidelines, similar to ASEAN's approach.

Some voices within Australia indicate that the EU cannot perform any order-making or sustaining capabilities within the Indo-Pacific.<sup>9</sup> The EU does not have its own military or meaningful military project power and has struggled to collectively address national security issues on its doorstep, such as instability in the Balkans in the 1990s, the annexation of Crimea in 2014, and the ongoing conflict in eastern Ukraine more recently. The EU's economic power and long-term economic growth prospects fall short of those of the U.S. and China. The EU members, if they are willing to provide all their military capabilities, still could not match the U.S. or China's air or naval power. So, the EU needs more material power to impose order on the Indo-Pacific.<sup>10</sup>

Neither can the EU form a preponderant coalition to create an order with the Indo-Pacific or discipline.<sup>11</sup> Washington and Beijing are incentivized not to join an EU-led effort that would constrain their interests. Other powers such as Japan, South Korea, the Philippines, and Russia have their security strategies tied (though not necessarily fully aligned) to one of the two Indo-Pacific superpowers: the U.S. and China. While the EU does have a strategic partnership with ASEAN, ASEAN states have limited material resources themselves, and they are generally hedging between the U.S. and China, with seven out of the ten ASEAN states having strategic partnerships or alliances with both the U.S. and China. Neither can ASEAN countries force the EU or Australia to choose between the U.S. and China. In short, Australia is cognizant of the limitations of the EU's order-fostering capabilities in the Indo-Pacific.

Indeed, as a normative power, the EU is trying to socialize its preferred order by bringing in the majority of the countries, including the powerful ones, into collective efforts to advocate norms of common concerns beyond national interests, such as climate change. Nonetheless, due to the intensity of the ongoing Sino-American competition, it has reached the point where the EU will only get buy-in from the U.S. and China on "lower" political issues like climate change. While there is positive language and amenability for cooperation, there are practical limitations-from Australia's perspective, little can be expected of the EU to help foster order in the Indo-Pacific, especially with its attention fixated on Ukraine.<sup>12</sup> Thus, when Canberra thinks about order-building, it focuses on cooperation and alliance with the U.S. Also indicative of perceptions of the role of the EU and its member-states is the Lowy Institute Poll 2024,13 where Australian respondents were asked about their view of a new security partnership beyond the U.S. and the UK. France was fourth from the top, behind India, Japan and Indonesia.

Still, avenues of cooperation exist across building regional capacity for maritime security, combating piracy, and promoting freedom of navigation. Another critical collaboration area is crisis management; the European Union-Australia Framework Partnership Agreement (FPA) intends to identify areas of greater security cooperation.<sup>14</sup> Finally, with advanced cyber capabilities, the EU and Australia can partner to build regional cyber resilience and counter cyber threats while combating disinformation, which is also crucial.<sup>15</sup>

## 3.1.2 India

The push for a multi-polar Indo-Pacific, or an Asia-plus, binds the EU and India. The seven pillars of the EU's Indo-Pacific strategy (i.e., sustainable and inclusive prosperity, green transition, ocean governance, digital governance and partnership, connectivity, security and defense, and human security) are pretty similar to how India envisions the Indo-Pacific region. Of these seven pillars, and as we saw in Chapter 2, security and defense cooperation are particularly interesting to India in its views on how the EU can best contribute to the Indo-Pacific order. Essentially, it mainly revolves around two pillars: security and defense by strengthening India's military capacity, and pillar ocean governance and security and defense, which fall together in maritime security.<sup>16</sup>

Within the EU, India has excellent working relations with France, which complements India's relationship with the EU. India's thriving relationship with France remains the epicenter of India's expanding convergence with Europe. More specifically, there are two documents worth noting. One is the Horizon 2047 roadmap, signed during Modi's visit to France on Bastille Day in 2023.<sup>17</sup> The document outlines a comprehensive vision for the India-France relationship for the next twenty-five years. However, a more important document is the Defense Industrial Roadmap signed in 2024.18 This document, classified, holds the key to taking the defense industry cooperation with India and transitioning to a co-design, co-development, and co-production of defense equipment.

This is an essential equation to underscore because this relational equation is what India has only had with Russia so far. India's diversification of weapons away from Russia has been underway for a while and has been significantly accelerated after the 2022 war in Ukraine. European partners are critical to this diversification and indigenization. It is not just France, Germany, and Spain that have emerged as the two crucial contenders for India's largest-ever strategic partnership in defense cooperation for the conventional submarines program.<sup>19</sup> Sweden's SAAB also made history by becoming the first foreign company to get 100 percent foreign direct investment in the defense sector for the Carl-Gustaf weapon system.<sup>20</sup> The U.S. has already emerged as one of India's critical defense and strategic partners. These significant developments give India more leverage for a more independent stance in fostering order in the Indo-Pacific.

The significant transformation the EU has undergone after the 2022 war in Ukraine is not always well understood or analyzed in India.<sup>21</sup> Regarding security and from India's perspective, two broad areas of convergence open up opportunities. One pertains to the cooperation of the defense industry, where the EU's defense industrial and technological base is revamped with unprecedented measures and policies. The EU and India can cooperate sincerely on the verticals of defense industry cooperation because India is also looking to ramp up its defense exports. The question, however, is that, unlike independent players such as France, Spain, Germany, and Sweden, with whom India already has a high degree of defense cooperation, when it comes to the EU, the space is restricted because of a lack of clarity on international partnerships within the EU Defense Industry Strategy (EUDIS).

The EUDIS that deals with forging international partnerships remains a work in progress. The advice is that the EU should refrain from taking the so-called Permanent Structure Cooperation (PESCO) route: The EU initiative whereby 26 of its 27 members (bar Malta) pursue structural defense integration, and its international partnerships are forged through different legal and administrative agreements. This modus operandi is suitable only for Europe's other transatlantic allies, such as the U.S. and Canada. PESCO-like cooperation cannot be replicated with the EUDIS, especially if the latter aspires to engage countries from the Indo-Pacific, such as India. It would be tough for countries outside the transatlantic theater to adhere to administrative and legal agreements to enter defense partnerships, which could hinder potential cooperation between the EU and India. India would never be on board regarding legal or administrative agreements in security partnerships. This caveat must be fixed if the realm of defense industry cooperation must materialize.

The second pillar with greater convergence between the EU and India to foster order is the maritime security domain, which is of direct interest to the Indo-Pacific region.<sup>22</sup> Among all the different definitions of what constitutes the Indo-Pacific and Indo-Pacific order, India and the EU's understanding of the Indo-Pacific overlap almost perfectly. This is a point that is often missed. The same, for example, cannot be said for the U.S., whose Indo-Pacific Command, the Indo-PACOM, stops at the Western Indian Ocean, or that of Australia, which is also much smaller.

However, the EU and India have specific semantic differences regarding some operational issues. For example, they define Illegal, Unreported, and Unregulated (IUU)-fishing or the dos and don'ts of peacetime differently. Nevertheless, these are not roadblocks. A multipolar Indo-Pacific and almost an exact overlap of the domain itself are a good policy match, and that is where the strength lies. This policy match is the basis of how the two sides can push for regional multipolarity by cooperating more on a defensive posture in the Indo-Pacific. This has been evidenced in the security and defense consultations and the maritime security dialogues that occurred in the last five years, and these meetings have been accelerated after the Russia-Ukraine war in 2022.

In addition, India has been on board with EU Naval Force Operations (EUNAVFOR) such as Operation Atalanta. It has also done joint exercises in the Gulf of Aden. Such participation contrasts U.S.-led Operation Prosperity Guardian, a hard-security operation. India would be very wary of joining challenging security operations. India has joined the U.S.led Combined Maritime Force (CMF) on a specific occasion, which was to do with drugs, but that is where India stopped. It has never really gone beyond that.

In comparison, India's cooperation with the EU is quite vast. India's cooperation with EU tools, such as the Coordinated Maritime Presences (CMP), talks of voluntary but permanent deployments in the Indo-Pacific. Because CMP is committed to a defensive posture and upholding multipolarity, these two tools are essential from an Indian perspective because they show an independent posture of the EU, different from the U.S. Moreover, it also opens crucial space for India to deepen its engagement with the EU. The EU has emerged as a credible maritime security provider through EUNAVFOR Missions and tools such as the CMP. The EU-India maritime security cooperation has tremendous potential because

a significant convergence exists between the two sides' policy documents on the Indo-Pacific and their cooperation on maritime domain awareness.

Lastly, on a more technical level, the two sides have addressed the need to cooperate more on maritime domain awareness. That remains the bedrock for bolstering a defensive posture in the Indo-Pacific. The EU's CRIMARIO 2 ended in 2024. It is suggested that the EU should launch a "third mandate," building on the successful completion of the previous two mandates of CRIMARO-1 and CRIMARIO-2, with more focus on other areas of the Indo-Pacific and not just on its traditional focus area in the Western Indian Ocean.

## 3.1.3 Japan

Japan welcomes the EU's Indo-Pacific Strategy, and Tokyo recognizes it as a fundamental shift of the EU's basic policy in the Indo-Pacific.<sup>23</sup> Japan's views are based on the fact that until recently, the EU and European countries had always welcomed China's rapid rise as the most significant trade and investment partner in Asia without considering risks. Japan is pleased to see that the EU has a) come to realize China as a systemic rival, particularly viewing the crackdown of the civil movement in Hong Kong and neutralization of "One Country, Two Systems" and also Beijing's enhancing partnership with Russia without limits, and b) refrained from condemning the Russian invasion of Ukraine by not halting the export of potential dual-use technologies and importing a growing amount of import of crude oil and gas. As Europe is an essential ally of the U.S., Japan believes that strategic coordination between Europe, Japan, and the other Asian allies is becoming critically important to foster order.<sup>24</sup>

Japan recognizes Europe, as per its FOIO vision, as its indispensable partner for peace and security in the Indo-Pacific. For example, late Prime Minister Abe said, "A Taiwan contingency is a Japan contingency,"25 and former Prime Minister Kishida said, "Today's Ukraine may be tomorrow's Far East."26 Japan understands that a Ukraine war is not only a war in Europe but also a war in the Indo-Pacific,<sup>27</sup> in that China is carefully monitoring the reactions of the U.S. and its allies and is preparing for a possible invasion of Taiwan. As long as China and Russia are building up a partnership without limits and Russia is also enhancing a partnership with North Korea, which is a *de facto* nuclear power, once a Taiwan Contingency breaks out, Russia and North Korea will undoubtedly take action not only in the Indo-Pacific but also in Europe.

In June 2024, Putin visited North Korea for the first time in twenty-four years, and the two countries signed a comprehensive military partnership agreement.<sup>28</sup> In late 2024, reports surfaced that North Korea had begun sending thousands of troops to Russia for possible deployment in Ukraine.<sup>29</sup> This follows North Korea's provision of artillery and other munitions to bolster Russia's war efforts. By contributing to Russia's warfighting capabilities in increasingly direct ways, North Korea strategically reinforces the Sino-Russian alignment in its opposition to Western influence and goal of disrupting the U.S.-led international order.

To foster order, for that matter, Japan argues that "A Taiwan Contingency is a Europe Contingency,"<sup>30</sup> and that Europe, Japan, and the other allies in the Indo-Pacific should work together to deter China from resorting to military actions on Taiwan by enhancing mutual and coordinated deterrence capabilities in military, economy, and diplomacy.

Japan is perhaps more optimistic than Australia in terms of the EU's power projection abilities and ability to contribute to order in the Indo-Pacific. For example, Germany may navigate its fleet to the Taiwan Strait.<sup>31</sup> Such joint operations between Europe, Japan, and the other allies can deter China-Russia-North Korea from further assertive moves in the Indo-Pacific and Europe by pursuing a favorable balance of power. Overall, Japan believes it is critically important to develop strategic coordination between Europe, Japan, and the other allies in the Indo-Pacific because China, Russia, and North Korea are developing strategic partnerships. Japan also believes that it is imperative to establish a network of "Spokes" with the U.S. as the Hub to maintain its security commitment in the Indo-Pacific and Europe.<sup>32</sup>

## 3.1.4 South Korea

As we saw in Chapter 2, the discussion within South Korea is the degree to which South Korea should subscribe to the U.S. Indo-Pacific strategy. The current government (though unstable and in political crisis) has formulated its Indo-Pacific strategy, interestingly drafted by the North American Department of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of South Korea; the Indo-Pacific strategy of South Korea is also an answer to the American Indo-Pacific strategy.<sup>33</sup> Against this backdrop, South Korea has little room to discuss the European Indo-Pacific policy and coordination with the EU. The focus in South Korea is on coordination with the U.S., and, mainly on Peninsular challenges, to which the EU contributes little.<sup>34</sup>

However, if one compares the EU Indo-Pacific strategy with the South Korean one, there are striking similarities. One can also find similarities with, for instance, the German, French, and Dutch Indo-Pacific strategies. Given the similarities, there should be room for cooperation. For instance, these documents believe they should increase cooperation with like-minded partners as they have shared values. Another similarity between the European and South Korean understanding of the Indo-Pacific is that they include the Eastern coast of Africa and the Americas. This differs from the U.S. understanding that focuses heavily on areas where there is competition with China, particularly Southeast Asia and South Asia. Europeans and South Koreans still need to understand Southeast and South Asia's geopolitical importance as the epicenters of Indo-Pacific politics. One can expect more joint naval exercises between South Korea, specific EU member-states, and other like-minded countries, port calls by European navies to South Korea, and capacity-building activities among them in Southeast and South Asia.<sup>35</sup> South Koreans are somewhat dissatisfied with their implementation of the Indo-Pacific strategy and wonder how much the Europeans have implemented their Indo-Pacific strategy.<sup>36</sup> In addition to maritime cooperation, the EU is trying to engage with Indo-Pacific actors in cyber and economic security. These two areas are of particular interest to South Korea and should be further expanded so that there are concrete areas for cooperation between the two sides to foster order.37

As for cybersecurity, South Korea emphasizes

cybersecurity as an area in which to work with like-minded partners.<sup>38</sup> South Korea's security partnerships with the EU and member-states like Poland have gained steam. Korea and the Netherlands have already decided to step up their technology cooperation, including in AI and semiconductors, during Yoon's (who is facing impeachment and has an arrest warrant against him) visit to the country.<sup>39</sup> With Poland, there are reports of increased financial cooperation on the back of already grown arms sales, besides expanding on nuclear energy cooperation and supporting Ukraine's post-war reconstruction projects. Notably, the EU and South Korea signed their Digital Partnership in 2022, as Seoul strongly emphasizes cybersecurity.<sup>40</sup> That same year, South Korea became the first Asian country to join the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO)'s Cooperative Cyber Defense Centre of Excellence (CCDCOE) based in Estonia.41 In the same year, it opened its diplomatic mission with NATO.

Yoon's government's Indo-Pacific strategy had attached great importance to NATO Asia-Pacific Partners, IP4, which refers to Australia, New Zealand, Japan, and South Korea.<sup>42</sup> As NATO strengthens its interactions with the EU and its member-states, South Korea and the EU can cooperate further in the Indo-Pacific arena through NATO platforms. For instance, information and intelligence sharing, capacity building, and joint exercises can all be concrete areas for advancing cooperative relationships.

Regarding economic security, both sides have shared views on the importance of supply chain resilience and joint science and technology projects. South Korean companies are advanced in semiconductors, electric batteries, AI, robotics, 6G, and space rockets. There should be more cooperation between South Korean and European partners in the private and public sectors. For example, European firms can invest in South Korea, and Horizon Europe can sponsor joint science and technology projects.<sup>43</sup>

Lastly, there is a rising trend of state or official visits from Europe to South Korea and other Indo-Pacific countries. However, sometimes Europeans must remember that they may use the Indo-Pacific framework to engage with Indo-Pacific countries. For example, when German Vice Chancellor Robert Habeck visited South Korea in June 2024, he did not express that his visit was part of any of Germany's Indo-Pacific engagements. There was no reference to the Indo-Pacific strategy. "Sometimes Europeans even forget that they have drafted those strategies while this Indo-Pacific can be used as a framework for them to engage with Indo-Pacific partners."<sup>44</sup>

Does South Korea see the EU as a force that can help foster order in the Indo-Pacific? The answer may lie in South Korea's inability to go beyond the North Korean threat amid persistent domestic squabbles, recent political crises, and scandals to foster order beyond the Peninsula. Of course, Europe's engagement with the Indo-Pacific has changed in the last few years, with economic, technological, and maritime security emerging as critical concerns via its new policies and strategies amid a growing acknowledgment of China's ambitions. Therefore, South Korea's perception of the EU within the Indo-Pacific geopolitical landscape is set to evolve, especially if the former's outreach continues with partner

states such as Poland and the Netherlands.45

# 3.1.5 Vietnam

As elaborated on in Chapter 2, like India, Vietnam seeks to diversify relations with different countries to navigate geopolitical tensions and generally welcomes a multipolar Indo-Pacific order. Hence, Vietnam believes the EU's new approach to the Indo-Pacific is a promising first step.46 However, Hanoi has tactfully avoided using "Indo-Pacific" in official documents, instead preferring "Asia-Pacific."47 The EU's approach to the Indo-Pacific region is relatively comprehensive, while the U.S.-led FOIP focuses on containing the rise of China. Notably, the U.S. was barely mentioned in the EU statement as the EU has more narratively defined its Indo-Pacific partners, namely South Korea, Japan, Australia, New Zealand, India, and ASEAN. Vietnam views the EU's attempt to craft its Indo-Pacific independence from U.S. interests positively.<sup>48</sup> In many speeches, Vietnamese leaders mention that Vietnam always welcomes initiatives that promote regional cooperation and stability based on the foundation of international law.<sup>49</sup>

The Singapore-based ISEAS-Yusof Ishak Institute publishes yearly surveys about Southeast Asia. In the 2020 survey, when respondents were asked about the case of an American absence in regional security, Japan was the top choice of most Southeast Asian respondents. However, in Vietnam, 23.3 percent of Vietnamese respondents still think that the EU could be turned to in the case of an American absence in regional security.<sup>50</sup> In the 2021 survey, 21.1 percent of Vietnamese respondents believed that the Indo-Pacific strategy promotes a stable, multipolar order and effective multilateralism. The EU and Japan remain the clear front-runners for Vietnam in this strategic hedging game.

The EU's trust rating has received a substantial boost in the region. The number of respondents having confidence in the EU to "do the right thing" has increased remarkably.<sup>51</sup> In the 2022 and 2023 surveys,<sup>52</sup> the highest levels of trust towards the EU are found in Vietnam (54.9 percent). The biggest reason for Vietnamese respondents to trust the EU is that they see the EU as "a responsible stakeholder that respects and champions international law." In the cohort of EU skeptics, more than onethird (38.7 percent) are concerned that the EU is distracted with its internal affairs and thus cannot focus on global concerns and issues. This concern is most pronounced in Vietnam (65.9 percent).

The second most significant reason for skepticism towards the EU is the concern that "the EU does not have the capacity or political will for global leadership" (25.9 percent).<sup>53</sup> In sum, Vietnam's understanding of EU strategies to foster order in the Indo-Pacific is generally positive and supportive, with that caveat of actual EU capacity. Vietnam sees the EU as a critical partner in promoting a rule-based international order, enhancing maritime security, fostering economic development, and engaging in strategic and diplomatic initiatives.

The alignment of interests in maintaining regional stability and prosperity forms the basis of a strong and mutually beneficial relationship between Vietnam and the EU. Promoting relations with the EU in general and EU member-countries in particular continues to be one of Vietnam's important foreign strategic directions in the coming time.

In practical terms, Vietnam and the EU already have a Framework Participation Agreement. Vietnam is also part of the EU's Enhancing Security in and with Asia (ESIWA) project, covering maritime security, crisis management, and cyber security. This also aligns with the EU's Indo-Pacific Strategy, where Vietnam is considered a "solid" partner.<sup>54</sup> Notably, both the EU and Vietnam face economic coercion from China. As China is now Vietnam's largest trading partner, sudden trade restrictions hindering Vietnamese exports to China would dramatically hurt the Vietnamese economy.

In this vein, Hanoi welcomed the EU-Vietnam Free Trade Agreement (EVFTA), hoping it would give Vietnam opportunities to diversify its trading partners and thus mitigate the risks of economic coercion from China.55 Conversely, the EU and its member-states are also trying to increase economic resilience by diversifying trading partners as they wrestle with economic overdependence on China. So, strategically, Brussels presents an excellent opportunity for Hanoi and vice versa. However, challenges remain. For example, all the EU member-states are still to ratify the Investment Protection Agreement signed along with the EVFTA. Even though this is a usual time-consuming procedure, the imperative to reap benefits as soon as possible has taken a setback amid a challenging geopolitical landscape.56

Vietnam and the EU are particularly concerned about traditional economic development, sustainable development, and green transition. For instance, under the EU's Global Gateway framework, the EU and Vietnam have signed the Just Energy Transition Partnership (JETP), which looks to provide a multi-project credit facility worth €500 million. This is supposed to be the EU's primary focus on Vietnam now. However, Hanoi's cautious approach in progressing for fear of falling into any potential debt trap could stymie the smooth cooperation. Projects involving vast sums of money, such as the JETP, are also practically challenging to push now as officials are afraid to be the targets of the Communist Party of Vietnam's anti-corruption campaigns.<sup>57</sup>

## **3.2 Conclusions**

The five powers' views on the EU's role in the Indo-Pacific and how the EU could help foster order in the region vary distinctly. These hover over a nexus of realism, disillusion, and optimism over what the EU has achieved, may have achieved, and prospects of what the EU could contribute. By and large, the scales tend to tip in a positive direction.

There is relief that the EU is taking the Indo-Pacific seriously and that an increasing number of EU member-states are developing respective strategies, position papers, and white papers. Yet, there is cognizance that the EU has a limited ability to project military power in the Indo-Pacific and is preoccupied with Ukraine. The Indo-Pacific is well aware that relations between the EU and Russia will remain sour and tense in the foreseeable future and that the vast majority of expenses in security and defense will remain grounded in Europe. Perhaps it is a blessing in disguise that the EU has limited military power projection abilities in the Indo-Pacific: it improves local receptiveness to a more significant EU role and it forces the EU to pursue less militaristic solutions.

Still, the respective Australian, Japanese, and South Korean aspirations for greater coordination with the EU lie in the hope that it can move closer to the U.S.-led Indo-Pacific alliances, informally or formally, or through indirect support, including security cooperation and the economy. India and Vietnam place a much stronger emphasis on diversifying external relations and on an even more plural multipolar Indo-Pacific where firm security reliance through collective security on the U.S. is discouraged. Hence, India and Vietnam consider more directly linking up with EU policies across a wide range of avenues where American involvement is not per se necessary.

Considering the EU's limited ability to project

military power in the West Pacific, more realistic interests appear in maritime, economic, and cyber security. The EU and the five powers have different levels of dialogue and cooperation in maritime, economic, and cyber security.<sup>58</sup> Granted, common interests do not necessarily transfer directly to become common actions.

To improve, the EU can work with the five powers to expand information sharing, encourage public-private collaboration, and ultimately develop joint approaches to these three domains. In the maritime domain, in particular, many of the concerns and preferences for order fostering converge among the five powers.

The exact way in which the EU may want to proceed is discussed in the next and final chapter.

#### Endnotes

- 1 Christina Keßler, "A Sea of Troubles: Addressing the EU's Incoherence on the Indo-Pacific," Centre for European Reform, January 8, 2024, https://www.cer.eu/insights/sea-troubles-eus-indo-pacific.
- 2 "Joint Communication to the European Parliament and the Council: The EU Strategy for Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific," European Commission, September 16, 2021, https://www.eeas.europa.eu/sites/default/files/jointcommunication\_2021\_24\_1\_en.pdf.
- 3 "Australia-EU Leaders' Meeting 2022: Joint Press Release by Australian Prime Minister Anthony Albanese, European Council President Charles Michel and European Commision President Ursula von der Leyen," Council of the European Union, November 16, 2022, https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2022/11/16/ australia-eu-leaders-meeting-2022-joint-press-release-by-australian-prime-minister-anthony-albanese-europeancouncil-president-charles-michel-and-european-commission-president-ursula-von-der-leyen/.
- 4 Susannah Patton, "Australia's View of Europe in Indo-Pacific: Potential for Balance," Sasakawa Peace Foundation, August 2022, https://spfusa.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/Susannah\_Patton\_Australias-Views-of-Europe-in-Indo-Pacific.pdf.
- 5 George Boone, "Don't expect much from the EU efforts in the Indo-Pacific," *The Strategist*, March 27, 2024, https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/dont-expect-much-from-eu-efforts-in-the-indo-pacific/; Peter Leavy, "Evolving European Indo-Pacific Policies-Good for Australia," The Forge, October 20, 2021, https://theforge.defence.gov.au/ article/evolving-european-indo-pacific-policies-good-australia.
- 6 Tao Qiu, "Study of the Australian US Policy under the Indo-Pacific Framework: Security Anxiety and Middle Power Perspectives," *Forum of World Economics & Politics* 3 (2021): 106-126 (in Chinese).
- 7 "National Defense: Defense Strategic Review 2023," Commonwealth of Australia, 2023, https://www.defence.gov. au/about/reviews-inquiries/defence-strategic-review.
- 8 Monique Taylor, "AUKUS, Advanced Capabilities and Defense Integration in the Indo-Pacific," Issue Brief, ISDP, July 25, 2023, https://www.isdp.eu/publication/aukus-advanced-capabilities-and-defense-integration-in-the-indo-pacific/.
- 9 George Boone, n. 5; Anne Mcnaughton and Frédéric Grare, "Is the EU Australia's Blind Spot in the Indo-Pacific?" *The Interpreter*, April 18, 2024, https://www.lowyinstitute.org/the-interpreter/eu-australia-s-blind-spot-indo-pacific.
- 10 George Boone, n. 5.
- 11 Ibid.
- 12 Panelists, workshops in June and October 2024.
- 13 Ryan Neelam, "Lowy Institute Poll 2024 Report," Lowy Institute, June 3, 2024, https://poll.lowyinstitute.org/ report/2024/.
- 14 "European Union-Australia Partnership Framework," EEAS, 2009, https://www.eeas.europa.eu/sites/default/files/ partnership\_framework2009eu\_en.pdf.
- 15 Jagannath Panda and Richard Ghiasy, "Navigating the Indo-Pacific: How Australia and the EU Can Partner for Peace, Stability, and Prosperity," ISDP Policy Brief, September 6, 2024, https://www.isdp.eu/wp-content/ uploads/2024/09/Brief-Policy-Australia-2-final.pdf.
- 16 Panelist, virtual workshop held in June 2024.
- 17 "Horizon 2047: 25<sup>th</sup> Anniversary of the India-France Strategic Partnership, Towards a Century of India-France Relations," Ministry of External Affairs of Government of India, July 14, 2023, https://www.mea.gov.in/ bilateral-documents.htm?dtl/36806/Horizon\_2047\_25th\_Anniversary\_of\_the\_IndiaFrance\_Strategic\_Partnership\_ Towards\_A\_Century\_of\_IndiaFrance\_Relations.
- 18 Suhasini Haidar and Dinakar Peri, "India-France Defence Ties Take a Bigger Leap," *The Hindu*, January 30, 2024, https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/india-france-announce-defence-industrial-roadmap-space-defence-cooperation-after-modi-macron-meet/article67780915.ece.
- 19 Shivangi Acharya and Christian Kraemer, "Germany, India Look to Boost Ties on Defense, Green Energy," *Reuters*, October 25, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/world/india-eu-free-trade-deal-cannot-include-dairy-sectortrade-minister-says-2024-10-25/; "Spain's PM Launches India's First Military Aircraft Plan," DW, October 28, 2024, https://www.dw.com/en/spains-pm-launches-indias-first-military-aircraft-plant/a-70616428.
- 20 "Saab Approved for 100 % Ownership of Carl-Gustaf Manufacturing Facility in India," November 9, 2023, https://www.saab.com/newsroom/press-releases/2023/saab-approved-for-100-ownership-of-carl-gustafmanufacturing-facility-in-india.
- 21 Panelist, virtual workshop held in October 2024.
- 22 James Crabtree and Manisha Reuter, "Rebooting EU-India Relations: How to Unlock Post-Election Potential," European Council on Foreign Relations, April 17, 2024, https://ecfr.eu/article/rebooting-eu-india-relations-how-tounlock-post-election-potential/.

- 23 Josep Borrell, "Europe's and Indo-Pacific's Security are Closely Linked," European Union External Action, November 14, 2024, https://www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/europe-and-indo-pacific-security-are-closely-linked\_en; Ryosuke Tanaka, "Japanese-European Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific: Spurred by Global Challenges and Threats," Sasakawa Peace Foundation, April 2022, https://spfusa.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Ryosuke\_ Tanaka\_Paper\_PDF.pdf.
- 24 Tanaka, n. 23.
- 25 "Taiwan contingency also one for Japan, Japan-U.S. alliance: ex-Japan PM Abe," *Kyodo News*, December 1, 2021, https://english.kyodonews.net/news/2021/12/b38433927c1e-taiwan-contingency-also-one-for-japan-japan-us-alliance-abe.html.
- 26 Fumio Kishida, "Keynote Address at Shangri-La Dialogue," June 10, 2022, https://www.mofa.go.jp/ files/100356160.pdf; "Japan's prime minister warns U.S. Congress: 'Ukraine of today may be East Asia of tomorrow,'" AP, April 11, 2024, https://www.marketwatch.com/story/japans-prime-minister-warns-u-s-congressukraine-of-today-may-be-east-asia-of-tomorrow-2d01b272.
- 27 Michito Tsuruoka, "Tokyo's Awakening: Japan in the Indo-Pacific after Russia's Invasion of Ukraine," Danish Institute for International Studies, January 4, 2023, https://www.diis.dk/en/research/tokyos-awakening-japan-in-theindo-pacific-after-russias-invasion-of-ukraine.
- 28 Guy Faulconbridge and Josh Smith, "Putin to visit North Korea for First Time in 24 Years," *Reuters*, June 18, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/world/russias-putin-visit-north-korea-june-18-19-2024-06-17/.
- 29 Hyonhee Shin, "North Korea sent 3,000 troops to Russia for Ukraine War, South says," *Reuters*, October 23, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/north-korea-has-sent-3000-troops-russia-ukraine-war-south-korean-lawmakers-say-2024-10-23/.
- 30 Panelist, virtual workshop held in June 2024.
- 31 Helena Legarda, "The German Navy Wades into the Waters of the Taiwan Strait," *Internationale Politik Quarterly*, September 18, 2024, https://ip-quarterly.com/en/german-navy-wades-into-waters-taiwan-strait.
- 32 Kei Kogo, Mie Oba, Ken Jimbo, and Zack Cooper, "U.S.-Japan Cooperation on Indo-Pacific Regional Architecture," Sasakawa Peace Foundation Policy Memorandum 3, 2029, https://www.spf.org/jpus-insights/spfasia-initiative-en/spf-asia-initiative003.html.
- 33 Panelists, virtual workshop held in June 2024.
- 34 Panelist, virtual workshop held in June 2024.
- 35 Roman Pacheco Pardo, "South Korea's Indo-Pacific Strategy: The Indo-Pacific Dimension," Brussels School of Governance, 2023, https://csds.vub.be/publication/south-koreas-indo-pacific-strategy-the-european-dimension/.
- 36 Panelists, virtual workshop held in June 2024; Clint Work, "The Tensions within South Korea's Indo-Pacific Strategy," Korea Economic Institute, December 7, 2022, https://keia.org/the-peninsula/the-tensions-within-southkoreas-indo-pacific-strategy/.
- 37 Panelist, virtual workshop held in June 2024; Eric J. Ballbach, "South Korea's evolving Indo-Pacific strategy: Opportunities and challenges for cooperation with the EU," Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik (SWP), Research Paper 2, March 2023, pp. 5, 6, 9, 18.
- 38 Lakhvinder Singh, "South Korea gets closer to NATO in the Indo-Pacific," *Asia Times*, August 30, 2024, https://asiatimes.com/2024/08/south-korea-gets-closer-to-nato-in-the-indo-pacific/.
- 39 Jagannath Panda, Julie Yu-Wen Chen, and Richard Ghiasy, "South Korea's Indo-Pacific Strategy: A Ray of Hope or Losing Steam?" The National Interest, August 11, 2024, https://nationalinterest.org/blog/korea-watch/ south-korea%E2%80%99s-indo-pacific-strategy-ray-hope-or-losing-steam-212280.
- 40 "EU and Republic of Korea Digital Partnership: Strengthening Our Economic Résilience," European Commission June 30, 2022, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_23\_3607.
- 41 Hayeon Kim, "NATO's cyber defense group makes Korea 1st Asian member," Korea.net, May 6, 2022, https:// www.korea.net/NewsFocus/Sci-Tech/view?articleId=214405; Panda, Chen, and Ghiasy, n. 39.
- 42 Pardo, n. 35; "Relations with Partners in the Indo-Pacific Region," NATO, October 24, 2024, https://www.nato. int/cps/en/natohq/topics\_183254.htm.
- 43 Pardo, n. 35.
- 44 Panelist, virtual workshop held in June 2024.
- 45 Panda, Chen, and Ghiasy, n. 39.
- 46 Anonymous interviewees in Hanoi, April 2024.
- 47 Cong Tung Nguyen, "Uneasy embrace: Vietnam's responses to the U.S. Free and Open Indo-Pacific strategy amid U.S.–China rivalry," *The Pacific Review 35*, no. 5 (2022): 884–914, https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.

leidenuniv.nl/doi/full/10.1080/09512748.2021.1894223#abstract.

- 48 Anonymous interviewees in Hanoi, April 2024.
- 49 Anonymous interviewees in Hanoi, April 2024; "Vietnam-EU Joint Committee holds fifth meeting in Hanoi," Nhan Dan, October 22, 2024, https://en.nhandan.vn/vietnam-eu-joint-committee-holds-fifth-meeting-in-hanoipost140499.html.
- 50 The State of Southeast Asia: 2020 Survey Report (ISEAS-Yusof Ishak Institute, 2020).
- 51 The State of Southeast Asia: 2021 Survey Report (ISEAS-Yusof Ishak Institute, 2021).
- 52 The State of Southeast Asia: 2022 Survey Report and The State of Southeast Asia: 2023 Survey Report (ISEAS-Yusof Ishak Institute, 2022 and 2023).
- 53 Ibid.
- 54 Richard Ghiasy, Julie Yu-Wen Chen, and Jagannath Panda, "Convergence in Vietnam, EU Interests a Harbinger of Indo-Pacific Order?" ISDP Voices 32, May 16, 2024.
- 55 Ibid.
- 56 Ibid.
- 57 Ibid.
- 58 Lauren Gilbert, Malthe Munkøe, and Hyunseugn David Yu, "A Next-Generation Agenda: Bridging Indo-Pacific and European Perspectives on Security," Atlantic Council Issue Brief, September 11, 2024, https://www. atlanticcouncil.org/in-depth-research-reports/issue-brief/a-next-generation-agenda-bridging-indo-pacific-andeuropean-perspectives-on-security/.



# CHAPTER 4

# How Should the EU Proceed?

Photo credit: Jixiang Liu/Shutterstock

# 4.1 Key Learnings

Taking into account the conclusions derived from Chapters 1, 2, and 3, this chapter deliberates on the potential lessons that the EU can draw from the churnings in Indo-Pacific geopolitics, lessons learned from the five powers on order fostering in the Indo-Pacific and ways to proceed—bilaterally or multilaterally with the five powers.

While geographic focus ranges from the more international, Japan, to the near(er), Vietnam and South Korea, a free, open Indo-Pacific that facilitates economic integration, free maritime navigation, and that includes multilateral approaches to order and (any) reform is essentially the interpretation of the order of all five powers. While China's ambitions in the South and East China seas and regarding Taiwan play a central role, unchecked Sino-U.S. contestation is another shared concern. Nevertheless, there are rather stark differences in the five powers' preferences for fostering order. What is striking is that hard security is a popular choice, particularly for Australia, the geographically most distant to China and a stout U.S. ally since the Second World War, and Japan. Australia and Japan, and South Korea to a minor but growing degree, see the U.S. as a critical security balancer with whom they, as active agents, can help foster order as primarily status quo powers. They generally equate deterrence and the balance of power vis-à-vis China as the most effective means of fostering order in the Indo-Pacific.

Time will tell the efficacy of this approach, but it

is the preferred modus operandi of some of the area's most notable middle and major powers. There is little evidence that they will change their stance anytime soon. India and Vietnam take a less military confrontational approach and advocate dialogue, inclusivity, non-/ (and) multi-alignment, and cooperative rather than collective security approaches. They do not see power balancing as the remedy for order fostering. On paper, these approaches may be the most sustainable order-fostering as for instance also liberal institutionalists argue that institutions, norms, and rules provide more durable solutions to order and stability by reducing the inherent mistrust and instability of power-balancing.1 The EU could support the power balancing and true multilateralism cooperative security approaches. While this may sound contradictory, both approaches have their merit and rationale, and the twopronged approach may be the most effective in the short and long term to help foster order in the Indo-Pacific and with international law as the point of departure. With the U.S.-allied power balancers, the EU can help through indirect means, considering its very limited military power projection capabilities in the Indo-Pacific.

First, however, the EU must expand its understanding of the evolution within these Indo-Pacific powers' respective diplomatic, political, and economic landscapes and the rationale of their approaches. This will help increase awareness not only about the strategic relevance in the EU to help guide policymaking in specific avenues, from climate action to emerging and critical technologies, but also broaden public awareness and attention, be it the mainstream media, academic and strategic circles, or private sector. But cooperation does not need to be restricted to these five powers as many other states in the vast Indo-Pacific desire to foster order, though not necessarily complying with the democratic values requirement.

With this in mind, and acknowledging that efforts small and large, direct and indirect, may all have trickle-down effects, what concrete multilateral and bilateral cooperation avenues exist to help foster order?

# 4.2 Multilateral Cooperation Avenues

Multilateral cooperation avenues can be combined with these powers but need not be restricted to them. Ideally, genuine multilateralism is pursued with all states interested in fostering order. Considering the five powers' largely converging interpretations of order, but rather stark divergences in preferences on how to best foster order, cooperation can be on security and economic cooperation, as well as dialogue fostering and non-traditional security.

- Each of these five powers has the potential to act as a bridge between the EU and the Indo-Pacific. The EU needs a multipronged approach that focuses on fostering a peaceful, stable, truly cooperative, and prosperous Indo-Pacific.
- The EU must look into developing effective measures through already existing

multilateral mechanisms such as the ASEAN network (the EU as a dialogue partner and founding member of the ASEAN Regional Forum) to defend the lawbased international order. This is a feasible option as all the five powers converge on the importance of nurturing a law-based regional and, in turn, international order.

- Four shared areas of cooperation include economic security, technology, maritime security, and climate change. While climate change and technology cooperation may not directly be considered as fostering order, both are an order disruptor and a catalyst for international cooperation. In all four areas, international law-abidance and making, regulations, reforms, and innovation are critical. Besides the objectives of the greater common good, this is important because all five powers, including the EU, are ultimately looking for greater strategic autonomy, interlinked with economic growth and success.
- Nonetheless, the ties must go beyond trade and investment into the strategic arena, particularly with ASEAN, where the two blocs are heavily dependent on trade for their relationship. The EU is seen as a preferred, trusted "third party" by the region amid the increasingly tense U.S.-China bipolarity.
- Certainly, the EU must not only unite to address the China strategic challenge only ten EU members have released Indo-Pacific strategies/notes, and even they have differences over China—but also work with the five middle powers and other actors to help overcome challenges due to the lack of integration in the Indo-Pacific. Each of

these powers represents a vital maritime region: South Asia, East Asia, Northeast Asia, Southeast Asia, and the Southwest Pacific, which should facilitate an excellent dialogue starter.

# 4.3 Bilateral Cooperation Avenues

These bilateral cooperation avenues are catered in line with these powers' respective interpretations of and preferences for order fostering in the Indo-Pacific.

# 4.3.1 Australia

- Australia intends to pursue a realistic, modified status quo in the region, which seeks to bring back power balance, particularly in the Pacific, Indian Ocean, and South China Sea maritime regions. This allows the EU to strengthen its values-based outlook on the region while countering China through infrastructure and other developmental outreach, including thirdcountry cooperation.
- In this context, they must reform the multilateral trading system and bolster maritime security (e.g., via capacity building and maritime domain awareness programs). The EU's new and updated maritime strategy should look into aligning with Australia on expanding or launching a "third mandate" (following the approaching conclusion of CRIMARIO-2) that focuses on other areas of the Indo-Pacific beyond the Western Indian Ocean region.
- Australia and the EU must explore cooperation on developmental aspects in

the Global South, particularly engagement with the Pacific Island states, considering Australia's focus on the Pacific. This will also be important for keeping China in 'check' in the Pacific, as China is a major regional investor.

- Accelerating efforts on climate action is one of the most vital ways to become relevant. The EU already invests in sustainable infrastructure and hydropower generation via its Green-Blue alliance. Bringing Australia as a relevant partner in the scheme would bolster climate resilience in one of the most vulnerable regions.
- Critical and emerging technologies are another area where Australia and the EU, both with advanced technological capabilities, should expand cooperation. These could include norm-setting for building an undersea cable architecture and ensuring better cybersecurity against malicious cyber activities, particularly to combat disinformation.

# 4.3.2 India

India sees the EU as a balancing partner in the Indo-Pacific, while India has become economically and technologically important to the EU. Moreover, their complementarities include an acceptance of multipolarity in the Indo-Pacific. As a result, both have seen a significant rise in strategic ties. However, the crucial lacunae in reaching common objectives must be mitigated nuancedly. For example, the question of "respecting mutual sensitivities," particularly in the free trade agreement talks, should be addressed sooner rather than later.

• The EU must focus on the commonalities,

e.g., multipolarity and strategic autonomy goals, and the bigger picture, e.g., trade resilience and reinvigorating multilateralism.

- On China, both are pursuing a nonconfrontational cooperation approach, which allows for greater collaboration opportunities. Notably, they must unite to create supply chain resilience, including in technology and critical minerals.
- As India looks to strengthen its defense and security sector, the EU should also create business opportunities to enhance India's military capacity. The EU should also look into strengthening their maritime security cooperation, with India and the EU contributing in their areas of strength in the Indian Ocean region. They should also look into expanding this burgeoning common area of interest into other sub-regions of the Indo-Pacific.
- At the same time, the EU and India need to work on the specific semantic differences on operational issues in the maritime security domain, where convergence exists. Also, they should work with the other Indo-Pacific powers to create the aforementioned "third mandate" for the CRIMARIO project.
- The EU must consider India's long-standing defense relationship with EU member, France, and strong defense collaborations with Germany, Spain, and Sweden. The EU should facilitate such engagements for India's diversification plans to unroll, which will help ease the burden of complexities concerning India's defense ties with Russia. That the European states are technologically

advanced surely helps this scenario.

• The EU should refrain from taking the so-called Permanent Structure Cooperation (PESCO) route regarding the European Defense Industrial Strategy. If the EU expects India to enter into a strategic security partnership, it will perhaps need to look into adjusting its legal and administrative constraints, modifying them to suit India's specifications.

#### 4.3.3 Japan

Japan's aims of pursuing FOIO would get a boost, if not contingent on the EU's plans, with the EU lending its geopolitical weight in the Indo-Pacific strategic affairs. With the EU sharpening its outlook on China as a systemic challenge, the EU's Indo-Pacific strategy aligns a little more with Japan's vision. Yet, the EU needs to step up on its commitment to deepening bilateral ties on the strategic level, including an enhanced security partnership with Japan. In particular, their advanced capabilities in technology and innovation should help achieve enhanced convergence.

- The EU should also work with Japan to frame technological norms for emerging and critical technologies. Like with Australia, the governance of new technologies, building an undersea cable security architecture, and combatting hybrid threats should become a new priority.
- Another critical area is nuclear nonproliferation and strengthening the lawbased international order, where more must be done. In the area of nuclear nonproliferation in particular, the EU (and its ultimate goal of the "total elimination" of

nuclear weapons) and Japan (that seeks to realize a world "free of nuclear weapons") have both firmly, time and again, reaffirmed their commitment. It is time to engage more with the Asian partners.

• The EU must also look into solidifying cooperation on the North Korean and Taiwan issues with Japan. The prevention of war, limited war, or any escalation in East Asia should become a priority for the EU if it wants to be taken seriously as a global security provider and help foster order in the Indo-Pacific.

# 4.3.4 South Korea

- The EU should make efforts to realize South Korea's goal of becoming a more reliable partner for Europe. Not only is South Korea a technologically advanced economic power in the region, but it is also a vital stakeholder in pursuing peace and nuclear non-proliferation in East Asia.
- Notwithstanding the debate surrounding South Korea's inability to realize its Indo-Pacific strategy objectives fully, the EU must enhance its strategic outreach to South Korea.
- Besides trade, vital avenues include climate change, new technologies (particularly in semiconductors), digitalization, renewable energy, and developmental cooperation in third countries. South Korea's experience in its transformation into a developed economy would be significant for the EU's outreach to the Global South. Perhaps, even in association with India, a leader for Global South.

- South Korea's contributions and commitment to NATO, including for Ukraine and its arms sales to Poland, highlight the former's intent to increase defense and security cooperation with the EU and its members.
- The EU should make concerted efforts to improve its perception as a significant and legitimate Indo-Pacific stakeholder that is there to help foster order. In this context, the EU should also engage more on the North Korean issue, particularly the denuclearization of the Korean Peninsula.

# 4.3.5 Vietnam

- Vietnam's lack of push to embrace the U.S.led Indo-Pacific security architecture or political model should not prevent the EU from enhanced cooperation, including in defense and security.
- Vietnam's insistence on strategic autonomy, self-reliance, diversification, and "proactive" international outreach provides a realistic cooperation scenario. Trade and investment, development, and stability and security in the South China Sea region are three vital areas.
- In this context, economic security via enhanced cooperation in building resilient supply chains is imperative. Both Vietnam and the EU have faced economic coercion from China, and increased business opportunities between the two partners will help ease the stress posed by economic insecurity.
- Moreover, as Vietnam is a significant manufacturing destination for companies

and investors seeking to "de-risk" from China, the EU should capitalize on this momentum.

 Maritime security is another vital area of cooperation, as one of Vietnam's core concerns is ensuring security and order in the sea lanes. The EU must look into ways of building maritime domain awareness initiatives, perhaps together with Australia, India, and Japan, which are also grappling with maritime security in the Indo-Pacific. The EU should explore projects that will help improve information sharing, including understanding maritime incidents.

• The EU could also consider looking into Vietnam as a gateway to boosting its strategic cooperation with the ASEAN states. The EU should maintain a clear and consistent stance on the South China Sea its recent statement protesting opposition to unilateral actions, referring to China, and support for freedom of navigation, as well as the ASEAN-led code of conduct, is a constructive way forward.

#### Endnotes

See, for instance, Robert O. Keohane and Lisa L. Martin, "The Promise of Institutionalist Theory," *International Security* 20, no. 1 (1995): 39–51; Anne-Marie Slaughter, "International Relations, Principal Theories," in R. Wolfrum (ed.), *Max Planck Encyclopedia of Public International Law* (Oxford University Press, 2011), 1–9; John G. Ikenberry, *After Victory: Institutions, Strategic Restraint, and the Rebuilding of Order after Major Wars* (Princeton University Press, 2001).

# **About the Authors**

# **Richard Ghiasy**

Richard Ghiasy is the director of GeoStrat, a boutique geopolitics consultancy in the Netherlands. He is also a Lecturer at Leiden University, a Senior Fellow at the Leiden Asia Centre, and an Expert with the Dutch Government Sinologists Council (CKN). He mainly researches and advises on Asian geopolitics, particularly those relating to China and India. In his 17-year career, he has provided policy advice to the EEAS, European Commission, Ministries across Europe and Asia, the OSCE, and the OECD. He has also presented at several of the world's top 20 universities and testified at the European Parliament. His advice is frequently catered to promoting order. He can be reached at director@geostrat.org and ghiasy@leidenasiacentre.nl

# Julie Yu-Wen Chen

Julie Chen is a Professor of Chinese Studies at the University of Helsinki in Finland. In addition to this Mercator Stiftung project, "Order in the Indo-Pacific," she is involved in another project titled "The EU in the Volatile Indo-Pacific Region," sponsored by the European Union's Research and Innovation program. Julie is one of the Editors of the *Journal of Chinese Political Science*, one of the top journals in both the Political Science and Area Studies categories. Julie has published in peer-reviewed academic journals such as *Globalizations*, *Problems of Post-Communism*, *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *Asia Europe Journal*, and *Asian Survey*. She can be reached at julie.chen@helsinki.fi

# Jagannath Panda

Jagannath Panda is the Head of the Stockholm Center for South Asian and Indo-Pacific Affairs (SCSA-IPA) at the Institute for Security and Development Policy (ISDP), Sweden. He is also a Professor at the Department of Regional and Global Studies at the University of Warsaw; and a Senior Fellow at The Hague Center for Strategic Studies in the Netherlands. As a senior expert on China, East Asia, and Indo-Pacific affairs, Jagannath has testified to the U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission at the U.S. Congress on 'China and South Asia.' He is the Series Editor for *Routledge Studies on Think Asia*. He can be reached at jpanda@isdp.eu

Institute for Security and Development Policy

Västra Finnbodavägen 2, 131 30 Stockholm-Nacka, Sweden Tel. +46-841056953; Fax. +46-86403370 Email: info@isdp.eu